Karolinska Institutet, Department of Medicine Cardiology Unit, Karolinska University Hospital Stockholm, Sweden

The usefulness of continuous hemodynamic monitoring to guide therapy in patients with cardiopulmonary disease

Barbro Kjellström



Stockholm 2007

The usefulness of continuous hemodynamic monitoring to guide therapy in patients with cardiopulmonary disease by Barbro Kjellström ISBN 978-91-7357-225-5



"A single day is enough to make us a little larger or, another time, a little smaller"

Paul Klee

"Pygmies on the shoulders of giants see further than the giants themselves" Stella Didacus

Contents

Abstract	6
List of original papers	7
Abbreviations	8
Introduction	9
Hemodynamics – a history	9
Hemodynamics – the present	. 10
Hemodynamic Measurements – what is normal?	. 11
Heart failure	. 13
Pulmonary arterial hypertension	. 15
End stage renal disease	. 16
Volume management – a challenge	16
Ambulatory hemodynamic monitoring - past, present and future	. 17
Aims of the study	. 20
Material and Methods	. 21
Technical components - sensors	. 21
Technical components - devices	. 22
Study I	24
Study II	. 27
Study III	. 27
Study IV	. 28
Study V	. 29
Study VI	. 29
Statistical methods	. 29
Results	31
OxyElite, long term follow-up of an implantable mixed venous oxygen sensor (Study I)	. 31
Components of continuous 24-hour pressures that correlate to supine resting conditions and	l
acute right heart catheterization (Study II)	. 31
Trans-telephonic monitoring of continuous haemodynamic measurements (Study III)	. 32
Hemodynamic observations during exercise measured by implantable pressure and oxy-	
gen sensors (Study IV)	. 33
Hemodynamic observations in patients with pulmonary hypertension treated with inhaled	
iloprost (Study V)	. 34
Hemodynamic observations in patients with end stage renal failure treated with hemo -	
dialysis (Study VI)	34
General discussion	. 36
Mixed venous oxygen saturation - what does it mean?	. 36
Making sense of continuous hemodynamic data	. 37
Alternative hemodynamic monitoring possibilities	. 39
Telemonitoring – a future perspective in patient care	39
Continuous hemodynamic monitoring – a cardiovascular disease management tool	40
Summary	. 46
Conclusions	. 47
Tacknowledgements	48
References	. 50

Abstract

Introduction: Cardiovascular disease, whether secondary to myocardial injury, pulmonary hypertension or renal failure, have high morbidity and mortality. New treatments have improved quality of life and survival, but hospitalization rates remain high. Continuous hemodynamic monitoring allows for a new perspective in cardiovascular disease management allowing for treatment strategies based on measurements performed while the patient tends to normal daily activities.

Feasibility: Hemodynamic monitoring by the means of an implanted pressure sensor has been shown earlier to be accurate in pressure measurement, safe to implant and stable in measurements over long-term. This thesis looked at acute and long-term stability of an oxygen sensor measuring mixed venous oxygen saturation from the right ventricle (Study I). The oxygen sensor was implanted in nine patients with a conventional pacemaker indication and showed a good correlation compared to invasive methods over the first year and a stable response to non-invasive, submaximal exercise levels over six years. Study II established that one data point, the night-time minimum, from the 24-hour hemodynamic trend replicated hemodynamic values collected during a controlled rest in the clinician's office. This value is used as a "quick look" value to look for hemodynamic changes over time. In addition to the fully implanted lead and memory device, the hemodynamic monitoring system includes remote monitoring, e.g. sending the data stored in the implantable hemodynamic monitor to a secured website for review by the treating clinician. Study III described this telemonitoring system and demonstrated that the transmission rate was acceptable and apparently independent of age and disease stage.

Applicability: In patients with heart failure, peak VO2 has been shown to be a good predictor of outcome. However, maximal exercise tests are cumbersome to perform and involve risk for the patients. Submaximal tests, e.g. 6-minute walk tests are routinely used to evaluate patient status in the hospital clinic. Study IV compared hemodynamic response during maximal and submaximal exercise in 30 patients with heart failure. During submaximal exercise the pressures increased 70-80% and heart rate 90% of the change achieved during maximal exercise. Thus, submaximal exercise hemodynamic response could be a tool in patient assessment in patients with heart failure. Study V looked at five patients with pulmonary hypertension, treated with an inhaled prostacyclin analog, iloprost. The effect of the drug lasted shorter when the patients used the treatment at home than under supervision in the hospital. The treatment effect in both setting was shorter than previously demonstrated in other studies. The most probable explanation for this is that hemodynamic measurements occurred during normal, daily activities in Study V, while earlier measurements have been performed in stationary patients during invasive studies. Study VI found progressively increasing cardiac pressures between hemodialysis treatments in 16 patients with end stage renal disease. The pressure increase, especially after a weekend when hemodialysis treatment was withheld for an extra day, was in the same magnitude as seen in patients with heart failure before a volume overload event leading to hospitalization. These recurrent changes in cardiac pressures might result in myocardial damage. More frequent dialysis treatment might be beneficial and might prolong the time to develope a reduced ventricular function.

Conclusion: The hemodynamic monitoring system and its components are feasible and mixed venous oxygen might add value to the system. One single data point could be extracted from the continuous 24-hour measurements that mimic a controlled rest allowing for a "quick look" that can advise the clinician of possible changes in the hemodynamic trends. This thesis supports the use of implantable hemodynamic monitoring in patients with cardiovascular disease of different origin associated with compromised hemodynamics. These observations may help to evaluate disease progress and to make therapeutic decisions.

List of original papers

- I Kjellstrom B, Linde C, Bennett T, Ohlsson Å, Ryden L. Six years follow-up of an implanted SvO2 sensor in the right ventricle. Eur J Heart Fail 2004; 6:627-34
- II Adamson PB, Kjellstrom B, Braunschweig F, Magalski A, Linde C, Kolodiezj A, Cremers B, Bennett T. Ambulatory hemodynamic monitoring from an implanted device: components of continuous 24-hour pressures that correlate to supine resting conditions and acute right heart catheterization. Congest Heart Fail 2006;12:14-19
- III Kjellstrom B, Igel D, Abraham J, Bennett T, Bourge R. Trans-telephonic monitoring of continuous heamodynamic measurements in heart failure patients. J Telemed Telecare 2005; 11:240-44
- IV Ohlsson A, Steinhaus D, Kjellstrom B, Ryden L, Bennett T. Central hemodynamic responses during serial exercise tests in heart failure patients using implantable hemodynamic monitors. Eur J Heart Fail 2003; 5:253-59
- V Fruhwald FM, Kjellstrom B, Perthold W, Watzinger N, Maier R, Grandjean PA, Klein W. Continuous hemodynamic monitoring in pulmonary hypertensive patients treated with inhaled iloprost. Chest 2003; 124:351-59
- VI Kjellstrom B, Braunschweig F, Löfberg E, Fux T, Grandjean P, Linde C. Progressive increments in right ventricular pressures between hemodialysis sessions recorded by an implantable hemodynamic monitor. Submitted Nephrol Dial Transplant 2007

Abbreviations

ESC	European Society of Cardiology
АНА	American Heart Association
ESCAPE	Evaluation Study of Congestive Heart Failure and Pulmonary Artery Catheterization Effectiveness
NYHA	New York Heart Association
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
USA	United States of America
ADHERE	Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry
IHM	Implantable Hemodynamic Monitor
COMPASS-HF	Chronicle Offers Management to Patients with Advanced Signs and Symptoms of Heart Failure
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
ICD	Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator
REDUCE-HF	Reducing Decompensation Events Utilizing Intracardiac Pressures in Patients with Chronic Heart Failure
RVSP	Right Ventricular Systolic Pressure
RVDP	Right Ventricular Diastolic Pressure
ePAD	estimated Pulmonary Artery Diastolic Pressure
EPR	External Pressure Reference
IRM	Interactive Remote Monitor
ISP	Internet Service Provider
LVEF	Left Ventricular Ejection Fraction
USRD registry	United States Renal Disease Registry

Introduction

Hemodynamics – a history

The movement of blood, hemodynamics (hemo = blood, dynamics = movement) has intrigued people for centuries. In the early teachings (1) it was believed that the ingested food supported the formation of blood in the liver and from there it was transported through the body. The main function of the right ventricle was thought to be the cleaning of the blood so that human catheterization was performed by Werner Forssmann (1904-1979) who published his results in 1929 (3,4). He introduced a urologic catheter in a vein in his left arm about 30 cm, walked to the x-ray lab and there advanced the catheter all the way to the right ventricle. This achievement led to a dismissal from his hospital position (5) and that he received the Nobel Prize in Medicine 30 years later (1956). The Nobel

"The thick septum of the heart is not perforated and does not have visible pores as some people thought or invisible pores as Galen thought. The blood from the right chamber must flow through the venous artery to the lungs, spread through its substances, be mingled there with air, pass through the arterial vein to reach the left chamber of the heart and there form the vital spirit" ibn al-Nafis, ca. 1240

"in cases of shock...it may be desirable to deliver medications directly to the heart in a less dangerous fashion, namely the catheterization of the right heart from the venous system. Experiments on cadaver were productive. I was able to catheterize any vein in the anticubital fossa and...reach the right ventricle...I next undertook experiments on a living subject, namely myself"... Werner Forssmann

"Novelties should not be rejected precipitously...dissent should be tentative rather that unyielding"

Andre' Cournand

impurities could be disposed of by the lungs during exhalation. The cleaned blood was then moved from the right to the left by pores in the wall separating the ventricles. Variations of this belief lasted well into the 16th and 17th centuries and it was William Harvey (1578-1657) in the 17th century that realized that the venous valves directed the blood in only one direction. Thereby, the cardiopulmonary system was defined as a one-directed, closed circuit where the right heart pumped the blood to the lungs and the left heart to the rest of the body (2).

The development of the cardiac catheterization techniques, as used today, was started in the mid 19th century with animal studies, initially using glass tubes that were inserted in the vessels and advanced to the heart (1). The first documented

prize was shared with Andre Cournand (1895-1988) and Dickinson Richards (1895-1973). They utilized right heart and pulmonary artery catheterization in patient care and worked to achieve a better understanding of the cardiac function. Their pioneering work was followed by further refinements of the techniques and in the 1950s, Sven-Ivar Seldinger (1921-1998) developed the percutaneous approach for the introduction of cardiac catheters, a technique widely used today (6). Almost 20 years later (7), Harold James Swan (1922-2005) developed the balloon-tipped catheter for easier advancement into the heart and pulmonary artery and William Ganz (1919-) incorporated the thermodilution method of measuring cardiac output. Their work resulted in the Swan-Ganz catheter, still used in millions of catheterizations every year.

Hemodynamics - the present

Today, invasive hemodynamic measurements, such as right heart or pulmonary artery catheterizations, are mostly used in the intensive care setting, peri- and post-operatively and in the management of pulmonary hypertension and candidates for heart transplant. However the number of catheterizations performed every vear is declining (8). Non-invasive methods such as Echo-Doppler cardiography have simplified hemodynamic measurements and provide noninvasive information, similar enough to be used in the routine care. Also, several non-invasive techniques to measure flow, volume or cardiac output have been developed and are used to evaluate patients in the clinical setting. Taking into account a higher cost for the health care system and increased risks for the patient that invasive measurements might incur, the decline of use is not surprising.

This change is also reflected in the current heart failure guidelines. The ESC guidelines (9) for treatment of chronic heart failure suggest that "Routine right heart catheterizations should not be used to tailor chronic therapy". The AHA heart failure guidelines (10) are also stringent in the use of hemodynamic measurements. They write "There has been no established role for periodic invasive or noninvasive hemodynamic measurements in the management of heart failure". This comment relates to that drug treatment is generally prescribed based on symptoms and that most clinical trials did not use hemodynamics as end points. However, the AHA guidelines continue with "Nevertheless, invasive hemodynamic measurements may assist in determination of volume status and in distinguishing heart failure from other disorders that may cause circulatory instability, such as pulmonary diseases and sepsis".

The evidence from nonrandomized studies regarding the value of tailoring therapy by right heart or pulmonary catheterizations to predict long term benefits for heart failure patients is conflicting (11-18). Only one randomized study, the ESCAPE trial, has evaluated the usefulness of catheterizations in patients admitted to a hospital with acute heart failure (19). In this study 433 patients with acute heart failure were assigned to receive therapy guided by clinical assessment plus right atrial and pulmonary capillary wedge pressure or to therapy guided by clinical signs alone. In the pulmonary catheter group, the target was a pulmonary capillary wedge pressure ≤15 mmHg and an atrial pressure of ≤ 8 mmHg. During the hospitalization, significant improvement in signs and symptoms of volume overload was achieved in both groups. In the 6-months following discharge there was no additional mortality or morbidity benefit from pulmonary artery catheterizations.



Figure 1. Illustrates the relation between intermittent right heart catheterizations and continuous hemodynamic monitoring. The graph shows a one year trend of continuous right ventricular systolic pressure. The solid black line represents the daily medians and the gray lines are the daily range (6th and 94th percentile of daily value). The black squares shows values from a Swan Ganz catheter and the gray diamonds from the implantable hemodynamic monitor, both measured simultaneously during a right heart catheterization. The dotted line shows the trend according to the "spot checks", performed with invasive tests.



Systemic capillaries

Figure 2. The cardiovascular system, see text for more details.

Although acute hemodynamic data does not seem to predict clinical outcome, long term hemodynamic data over months or years might positively impact patient care or prognosis (20). The difference may lie in the relationship between acute and chronic hemodynamic patterns (Figure 1). Multiple variables such as discomfort from the invasive procedure, drug compliance, diet, exercise or changes in sympathetic tone may unduly influence single, acute measurements. Long-term non-invasive measurements on the other hand may remove inaccuracies found in acute determinations.

Hemodynamic Measurements – what is normal?

The cardiovascular system is a closed circuit with the heart as a central pump that moves the blood into the pulmonary and systemic vascular beds (Figure 2). Included in the cardiovascular system, in addition to the heart and the blood, are the arteries that regulate the blood flow and deliver oxygenated blood to individual organs dependent on metabolic need. It also includes the capillaries, where the exchange of nutrients, respiratory gases and metabolites takes place and the veins that return the deoxygenated

 Table 1. General hemodynamic premises and normal pressure values (21)

Variable	Pressure (normals at rest)
$CVP \approx RAP \approx RVDP$	0-8 mmHg
$RVSP \approx PASP$	15-25 mmHg
$LVDP \approx LAP \approx PCWP$	4-12 mmHg
$LVSP \approx ASP$	110-130 mmHg
PCWP related with PADP	8-15 mmHg

ASP = aortic systolic pressure, CVP=central venous pressure, LAP=left atrial pressure, LVDP=left ventricular end diastolic pressure, LVSP=left ventricular systolic pressure, PADP=pulmonary artery diastolic pressure, PASP=pulmonary artery systolic pressure, PCWP=pulmonary capillary wedge pressure, RAP=right atrial pressure, RVDP=right ventricular end diastolic pressure, RVSP=right ventricular systolic pressure.

blood to the heart. The veins also function as a reservoir and during resting conditions, approximately 70% of the blood volume resides there. Redistribution of blood volume to other parts of the vascular system is achieved by venoconstriction upon need and can occur instantly or over hours or days.

Normal cardiac pressure values at rest and the general premise of their relationship are presented in Table 1.

Cardiac output defines the amount of blood leaving the heart during one minute. It is calculated as the product of stroke volume and heart rate. In a healthy heart the resting cardiac output is 4-6 L/min, thus at a heart rate of 70 bpm, the stroke volume is 55-80 ml. However, the total volume in the left ventricle is 120-140 ml which means that only 50-75% is ejected with each beat. This is measured as the ejection fraction. The blood remaining in the ventricle is the reserve volume that can be utilized during increased flow demand. Stroke volume is determined by the preload (stretch of the myocardial fibers, myocytes), the afterload (vascular resistance), the contractility (volume and contractile force) and the synchrony of the ventricles. This is illustrated by the Frank Starling law that shows the relationship between the ventricular end-diastolic myocardial fiber length and the ventricular performance. As these measurements are not available outside the experimental lab, the myocardial fibers length is measured as the ventricular end-diastolic pressure and the performance as the stroke volume (Figure 3A). According to the Frank Starling law, an increase in venous return will increase the ventricular end-diastolic pressure and thereby stretch the cardiac myocytes prior to contraction (Figure 3C). The stretch increases the sarcomere length, which results in an increased generation of force. This enables the heart to eject the additional venous return and thereby increase the stroke volume. One can think of it as a slingshot, the harder you pull











Figure 3. Panel A illustrates the Frank Starling Law, the relation between ventricular end diastolic pressure and the stroke volume. The solid line is the normal curve, the dotted line shows an enhanced function and the dashed line a reduced function. Panel B illustrates the relation between the ventricular end diastolic pressure and the venous return. Again, the solid line is the normal curve and the dotted line shows an increased venous return. Panel C show the relation between the ventricular end diastolic pressure, the stroke volume and the venous return. In a healthy heart, an increase in venous return during exercise will lead to an increase in stroke volume and a slight increase in ventricular end diastolic pressure (a). If the pump function is impaired, an increase in venous return will increase the ventricular end diastolic pressure significantly but will only result in a small increase in stroke volume (b).

the rubber band, the more force is accumulated and the longer the shot will be.

During exercise the cardiac output can increase 3-4 times compared to rest. However, the stroke volume can only increase 40-60%, thus the ability to increase heart rate is of key importance to increase blood flow to meet the metabolic demand during exercise. At low levels of exercise the increase in heart rate and contractility are mostly a result of a reduction in vagal tone while at higher levels of exercise, after the anaerobic threshold has been reached, the sympathetic nervous system becomes dominant. This results in activation of catecholamines, that increases the heart rate and cardiac contractility. Catecholamines will also cause vasoconstriction and increased systemic vascular resistance and thus an elevation in arterial blood pressure.

Another important factor in the regulation of cardiac pressures and flow is the reninangiotensin-aldestorone system. Renin is produced mainly in the kidneys in response to decreased kidney perfusion and plays an important role in the production of angiotensin II and aldestorone release. Angiotensin II is a potent vasoconstrictor while aldestorone enhances sodium and water reabsorption and reduces potassium reabsorption. The reninangiotensin-aldestorone system is activated by changes in volume, like blood loss or decreased cardiac output. This will trigger vasoconstriction in peripheral vessels aimed to preserve the perfusion pressure to vital organs.

Measurements of intra-cardiac pressures are most commonly measured with fluid filled catheter techniques on the low pressure, right side of the heart. The catheter is introduced through a vein (femoral, brachial or subclavian dependent of clinician's preference) and advanced through the right atrium to the right ventricle and then commonly into a small branch of the pulmonary artery. By occluding the artery with an inflated balloon at the tip of the catheter, the pulmonary vascular system in front of the catheter will function as an extension of the catheter lumen. This will give an estimate of the left atrial pressure (≈left ventricular end diastolic pressure).

The techniques to monitor cardiac output are

several, however, the Fick principle is believed to be the most exact method, often referred to as the "gold standard". The principle states that the total uptake of a substance by an organ is the product of the blood flow through that organ and the arteriovenous difference of the substance. In other words, cardiac output is measured as the relation between the oxygen consumption (difference in oxygen content in inspired vs expired air) and the arteriovenous difference (difference in oxygen content in the arterial vs venous blood):

Oxygen consumption

Cardiac output =

Arteriovenous oxygen difference

This method needs access to venous and arterial blood sampling and analysis of the blood gases (oxygen content) as well as collection and analysis of the respiration gases. As this requires advanced equipment and results are not readily available, other, simpler techniques have been developed. Additional invasive techniques include thermodilution and dye dilution. Non-invasive techniques such as Dopplerultrasonography, thoracic bioimpedance, pulse contour and helium re-breathing are readily available, though in general less accurate. Moreover, it is most often in the presence of low cardiac output that these methods are less reliable than the Fick principle. Hence the Fick principle is the preferred method in low cardiac output, especially in clinical research.

Heart failure

Heart failure has been defined as "a clinical syndrome caused by an abnormality of the heart and recognized by a characteristic pattern of hemodynamic, renal, neural and hormonal responses" (22). It has also been described as "a clinical syndrome in which the heart is incapable of maintaining a cardiac output adequate to accommodate metabolic requirement of the body" (23). Both definitions are fitting for this thesis that has a focus on hemodynamics. However, it is important to keep in mind that a change in hemodynamic measurements is only one of several aspects used to diagnose heart failure. According to the ESC guidelines for treatment of chronic heart failure (9) the clinical diagnosis of heart failure therefore requires all three of the following criteria to be met: 1) symptoms of heart failure (dyspnea and fatigue) at rest or during exercise, 2) evidence of cardiac dysfunction and 3) response to heart failure treatment.

The prevalence of heart failure in Europe is approx 1-2% of the population (24). It is associated with frequent hospital admissions (25) and constitutes approximately 5% of all acute medical admissions (26) every year. In Sweden it is the most common discharge diagnosis within internal medicine and the prevalence of heart failure has been estimated to 220 000 persons or 2.5% of the Swedish population (27). Despite improved treatments, the 5-year survival-rate is less than 50% and at rest. Though, during exercise or at increased metabolic demand, the contractile force will not increase enough to maintain a sufficient cardiac output (Frank Starling law, Figure 3 A och B). Symptoms in mild to medium systolic heart failure are therefore often connected to fatigue and dyspnea at light to moderate exercise (forward failure). If impaired contractile dysfunction affecting the filling of the ventricle is predominant, the pressure will "back up" in the lungs and pulmonary congestion or edema might occur (backward failure).

Diastolic heart failure is characterized by impaired filling of the ventricle due to a thickening of the heart muscle. The ejection fraction is often normal or even increased, though the stroke volume might be decreased even at rest due to the decreased ventricular

"for when the phlegm descends cold to the lungs and heart, the blood is chilled; and the veins being forcibly chilled, beat against the lungs and heart, and the heart palpitates, so that under this compulsion difficulty of breathing and orthopnoea result"

"[The patient] appears yellow; the whole body is edematous; the face is red; the mouth dry; he is thirsty; and when he eats, respiratory quickens. In the same day at some times he may appear better while at others he is suffering acutely and seems on the verge of dying"

Hippocrates

in patients with severe heart failure, mortality approaches 50% annually (28,29).

The most common type of heart failure is impaired left ventricular function due to ischemia, myocardial infarction or hypertension leading to systolic or diastolic heart failure, or a combination of both. Right ventricular failure occurs more often secondary to left ventricular failure but also due to precapillary pulmonary vascular damage, right ventricular ischemia/ infarction or congenital heart disease.

In systolic heart failure, an increased ventricular volume leads to a stretch of the myocardial fibers (myocytes) and thereby contractile dysfunction and impaired emptying of the ventricle. Initially, despite the reduced ejection fraction, the increased ventricular volume might maintain a normal stroke volume or at least sufficient to satisfy the body's metabolic need volume. Symptoms are similar to that of systolic dysfunction but dominated by dyspnea and pulmonary congestion.

Despite the different presentation of structural changes in the ventricle both systolic and diastolic heart failure are characterized by increased filling pressure. The myocardial strain will cause increased levels of catecholamines even at rest or low levels of stress. Therefore, during exercise the increase in catecholamine levels might be smaller than in a healthy heart and compensatory factors like increased heart rate and blood pressure might be dimished. The exercise capacity will be limited primarily by symptoms of dyspnea and fatigue and exercise may be terminated early, even before the anaerobic threshold is reached.

Hemodynamically, medical heart failure treatment aims to normalize the Frank Starling

	Heart failure	Pulmonary artery hypertension	End stage renal disease
	(Study II, n=30)	(ref 34, n=22)	(Study VI, n=16)
Right ventricular systolic pressure (mmHg)	41±15	73±24	29±7
Right ventricular diastolic pressure (mmHg)	10±6	13±7	5±5
Pulmonary artery diastolic pressure* (mmHg)	21±7	29±10	15±6

Table 2. Comparison of hemodynamic values (night time minimum as defined in Study II), measured by the implantable hemodynamic monitor in three different patient populations.

*ePAD, see description of the implantable hemodynamic monitor for details (page 21).

curve by changing the end-diastolic filling pressure and stroke volume relationship, e.g. by moving the curve up and to the left. Diuretics and venous vasodilators decrease the ventricular filling but do not change the stroke volume. On the other hand, arterial vasodilators and inotropes cause an increase in stroke volume but with only a small effect on the ventricular filling pressures. Treatment is therefore often designed to give a combination of these effects. The ESC and AHA heart failure guidelines recommend diuretics. angiotensin converting enzyme beta-blockers and inhibitors, aldestorone antagonists or angiotensin receptor blockers in patients with NYHA II-III heart failure and symptoms of volume overload (9,10).

Pulmonary arterial hypertension

Pulmonary arterial hypertension is defined as a mean pulmonary artery pressure ≥ 25 mmHg with a capillary wedge pressure ≤ 15 mmHg, measured at rest by right-heart catheterization (30). The classification of pulmonary arterial hypertension include idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension (previous called primary pulmonary hypertension; cause unknown), familial pulmonary hypertension (an inherited genetic disorder) and pulmonary hypertension associated with other diseases or conditions, such as collagen vascular disease, congenital left-to-right shunt, portal hypertension, HIV infection, drugs and toxins. It is unclear whether the various types of pulmonary arterial hypertension share one common pathogenesis, but mechanisms such as impaired production of vasodilators (nitric oxide and prostacyclin)

along with overexpression of vasoconstrictors such as endothelin-1 are generally affected (30). Treatment has therefore been focused on these pharmacologic targets to improve symptoms and slow the disease progress for patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension.

As the name implies, the disease affects the pulmonary arteries, and in particular the small arteries. It is characterized by vascular remodeling that result in a progressive increase in pulmonary vascular resistance. To move the blood through the non-compliant pulmonary circulation, the force of the right ventricular ejection has to be increased which results in increment of the right ventricular systolic pressure (Table 2). The pulmonary artery diastolic pressure is also increased due to the resistance to the diastolic blood flow. The increased workload of the right ventricle will lead to changes in the right ventricle such as hypertrophy and/or dilatation and ultimately to right ventricular failure. On the other hand, the left ventricular end diastolic pressure will not be increased as the post capillary vessels, the pulmonary veins, are not affected by the disease.

The prevalence of pulmonary arterial hypertension is low and the patient population in Europe and USA has been estimated to 130 000 (31). The mortality is high, median survival without treatment has been reported as low as 2.8 years after diagnosis (32). However, new treatments have improved these numbers and a recent report on long term treatment with an endothelin receptor antagonist (bosentan) showed survival rates of 85 and 70% after 12 and 24 months respectively (33).

In a literature search performed by *McLaughlin* and colleagues (30) it was shown that a worsening hemodynamic status is correlated to an increased mortality in patients with idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension, independent of therapy. The hemodynamic variables that best predicted survival were right atrial pressure, mixed venous oxygen saturation and cardiac output/cardiac index. Arterial oxygen saturation, mean pulmonary pressures, heart rate and cuff systolic pressure did not predict survival in a consistent fashion in these patients.

End stage renal disease

End stage renal disease is defined as complete or near complete failure of the kidney function to excrete wastes, concentrate urine, and regulate electrolytes. This usually occurs as chronic renal failure progresses and the function of the kidney is below 10% of normal. At this stage the kidneys are no longer able to maintain a functional level necessary for day-to-day life and dialysis or transplant is necessary to sustain life.

The kidneys main functions are 1) regulation of volume, 2) extraction of waste products, 3) regulation of the acid-base balance and 4) regulation of the electrolyte balance. They also play an important role in production and secretion of hormones such as renin, aldestorone and erythropoietin. These functions all aim to regulate the volume and composition of the body fluids, despite huge fluctuations created by variations in fluid and food intake.

Dialysis means transfer of solute (dissolved solids) across a semi permeable membrane and hemodialysis means "cleaning the blood". In a simplified explanation; the blood is circulated through a dialyzer (artificial kidney) with two spaces separated by a thin membrane. Blood passes on one side of the membrane and dialysis fluid passes on the other. Waste products and excess fluid pass from the blood through the membrane into the dialysis fluid that is discarded. The cleaned blood is then returned to the vascular system. A hemodialysis procedure normally takes four to five hours, and commonly three treatments per week are prescribed (35,36).

In Sweden, approximately 6800 patients are on chronic hemodialysis treatment (37) and around 1200 new patients are added every year. Cardiovascular disease is a common complication to end stage renal disease and accounts for 40-50% of the deaths (38). Progressive increase in systemic vascular resistance due to vascular stiffening and loss of compliance is seen in patients on hemodialysis treatment (39). This contributes to ventricular failure and thereby volume overload and increased filling pressure. Co-morbidities such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus and anemia also add to the risk (37). In Europe the 5-year survival among hemodialysis patients is 50-60% (39,40) and in USA it is 30% (38). The reason for the lower survival rates in USA than Europe is not clear, though it has been speculated that shorter dialysis time (41), frequency and timing of dialysis e.g. night and weekend dialysis (42), cultural/race dependence, less involvement of nephrologists in the USA dialysis clinics (43) and less compliant patients (44) might increase the mortality.

Volume management – a challenge

In the ADHERE registry including 65 000 patients in the USA hospitalized for acute decompensated heart failure (45), symptoms of volume overload was the major reason for heart failure hospitalizations. Interestingly, 50% of the patients had preserved left ventricular ejection fraction. Similar data was reported in the EuroHeart Failure Survey (46). Despite effective volume management during the hospitalization, as indicated by significant weight loss, decrease in edema and jugular venous pressure (19), about 20% were readmitted for heart failure within 3 months (45.46) and a fourth of those were readmitted already within the first week after discharge (46). One possible explanation is premature hospital discharge, in fact 30% of heart failure patients still have symptoms of heart failure at the time of discharge (45). Furthermore, a study from a heart failure program (47) found that the majority of the medication changes in the first 3 months after discharge were adjustments of diuretics, indicating that the patients were not in a stable optivolumic state when they left the hospital.

Physical signs of congestion such as pulmonary rales, jugular venous distension or a third heart sound correlate only moderately with measurements of ventricular function (48,49). Therefore, early stages of volume overload might be missed during a routine clinical examination. For the patient at home, measuring changes in body weight by a scale is a simple method for volume monitoring and often the only one available. Patients are generally recommended to call their clinic when their weight has increased more than 2-3 kg over 2-3 days (9). However, few data exists to support these weight criteria and two recent studies even question its validity, either as an indication of clinical deterioration (50) or to prevent hospitalizations (51).

Patient compliance is another factor that impacts hospitalizations and when to seek care. In a literature study (52) it was shown that on average only 40% of the patients reported that they weighed themselves regularly (range 12-75%). The same review also reported on the delay in seeking care from the first awareness of symptoms. Dyspnea warranted contact after a median duration of 3 days while symptoms of edema, cough and fatigue was tolerated for a median of 7 days (52). Volume management in patients with ventricular dysfunction thus remains a challenge. Patient symptoms and clinical signs are inconclusive and additional tools are therefore desired to assess fluid status and validate accurate treatment response.

Ambulatory hemodynamic monitoring - past, present and future

Past

Ambulatory, continuous hemodynamic monitoring was first attempted by using fluid filled (53) or micromanometer tipped catheters connected to a Holter recorder (54-57). These recordings where performed with the patient in the hospital but allowed the patient to move freely within that environment. The length of the reported recordings varied from hours up to 4 days. The results from these studies were the first to describe cardiac pressure levels and diurnal variations in an ambulatory heart failure patient. In a study of eight patients with chronic heart failure (54) the mean daytime pulmonary artery systolic pressure was 30 ± 5 mmHg and pulmonary artery diastolic pressure was 14 ± 6 mmHg, indicating a mild to moderate heart failure. At night the pulmonary artery systolic pressure increased an additional 5 ± 3 mmHg and the pulmonary artery diastolic pressure 4 ± 2 mmHg. These early studies laid the foundation for today's fully implantable systems that measure cardiac pressures and gave an early insight to what continuous cardiac pressure monitoring might reveal.

Present

A series of studies have been performed to verify the feasibility of continuous implantable hemodynamic monitoring (IHM) in patients with heart failure and devices for remote transfer and use of the data. The first acute studies supported the ability to reliably estimate pulmonary artery diastolic pressures from the right ventricular pressure signal (58-60). This was followed by studies of permanently implanted pressure sensors aimed to show accuracy in right ventricle pressure measurements and that the performance was stable over time (Figure 4). The results of these studies support the technical feasibility and the long-term accuracy and stability of these systems (61-65). More over, in 32 patients implanted with an IHM, changes in right ventricular pressures preceded patient symptoms in mild decompensation (not hospitalized) with at least 24 hours and in severe decompensation (hospitalized) with 4±2 days (66). The authors concluded that if the changes had been detected at an early stage and medication regiments changed, periods of decompensation and subsequent hospitalization might have been avoided.

In addition to the feasibility studies, several small research studies have been performed (67-69) reflecting the utility of the IHM as a research tool. Also, the enthusiasm to show how the IHM can be used to provide informed care in individual patients led to a number of case studies being published (70-74). However, these studies were based on retrospective analysis of the IHM data and it become clear that an important part of the ambulatory hemodynamic monitoring concept was easy and instant access to the information



Figure 4. Photo from a cath lab examination in the IHM-1 study. The aim of the IHM-1 study was to study accuracy and long term (1 year) stability of a pressure and an oxygen sensor permanently implanted in the right ventricle. The patients underwent catheterizations at the day of implant and 1, 3 and 12 month after implant. The picture shows the patient to the left and all the equipment that was needed to test sensor accuracy surrounding him.

on a regular basis. The Chronicle information network (Carelink) is a web based system that allows the patient to send data stored in the IHM via a regular telephone line to the internet. The clinician has access the hemodynamic data from any computer or similar device with an internet connection and can thereby detect changes in the hemodynamic trends without the patient having to visit the clinic.

A randomized study to establish the efficacy of Chronicle Guided Care in heart failure patients has been conducted (COMPASS-HF) and the results were presented at an FDA review meeting March 1, 2007. The trial enrolled 274 NYHA class III-IV patients who were followed for 6-months (75). All patients received an IHM and were randomized to either a treatment group where clinicians had continuous, remote access to the IHM data or a control group where clinicians were blinded to the IHM data. After the 6-month randomization period, the data were un-blinded for all patients. The study showed a 38% reduction in the relative risk of HF hospitalization between control and treatment groups. However, the study turned out to have over-estimated the primary endpoint event rate and was underpowered to achieve statistical significance. It was also reported that the hospitalization event rate remained low in the treatment group in the 6-months following the un-blinding, and that the control group's HF hospitalization event rate decreased to match the rate achieved in treatment group.

Future

Ongoing research is directed towards simplifying the use of the IHM system, to combine the IHM with other device therapies and to better understand disease pathophysiology and the discrimination of underlying co-morbidities in patients implanted with an IHM. Today the review of the IHM trends is done by the clinical staff on a regular basis. This is time consuming and in addition, identifying meaningful changes requires training and experience. To provide easy access to the data, improved techniques such as wireless telemetry and automated detection of hemodynamic changes (76) have been reported. The latter could provide early warning of potential cardiac decompensation and assist data reviews. Future algorithms might include, among other, estimation of cardiac output by pulse contour analysis (77,78) and detection and discrimination of ventricular arrhythmias (79).

The possible combination with other technologies and devices includes impedance measurements (80), cardiac pacing (in particular cardiac resynchronization therapy) and automatic drug delivery systems. A combination device, the Chronicle-ICD is currently being implanted in the REDUCE-HF trial. The IHM part of the device utilizes the same technology as previously described and is not used for ICD arrhythmia detection. Similar to COMPASS-HF, all patients receive an IHM and are randomized to either a treatment arm where clinicians have access to the IHM data or a control arm where clinicians are blinded to the IHM data. The primary endpoints are safety and a 30% reduction of all HF related events in the treatment group compared to the control group (81).

Dr Pickering, a pioneer in ambulatory blood monitoring wrote "Ambulatory pressure monitoring provides a unique opportunity for studying the temporal relationships between lifestyle factors and blood pressure. These include physical activity, mental activity, environmental stressors substances ingested for pleasure such as smoking, alcohol and caffeine, and nutrition (82)". Though his comment was meant for cuff blood pressure monitoring, it is definitely applicable for implantable hemodynamic monitoring too and there is still much to be learned.

Aims of the study

The general aim of this thesis was to show the feasibility and applicability of continuous hemodynamic monitoring in patients with overt or imminent heart failure.

Specific aims were to:

- I demonstrate accuracy and long term stability of an implanted venous oxygen sensor
 II identify which components of 24-hour data from an implantable hemodynamic monitor best estimate resting conditions
 III demonstrate feasibility and usability of a trans-telephonic system with internet based display of continuous hemodynamic data
- IV study right ventricular hemodynamics, including mixed venous oxygen, during different types of exercise and levels of exertion
- V assess applicability of continuous hemodynamic monitoring in patients with pulmonary hypertension and if optimization of therapy (inhaled iloprost) was feasible
- VI assess applicability of continuous hemodynamic monitoring between dialysis sessions in patients with end stage renal disease

Material and Methods

Technical components - sensors

The oxygen sensing lead (Model 4327A, Medtronic, Inc., Minneapolis, USA) was a polyurethane permanent pacing lead with a porous platinum steroid tip carrying an oxygen sensor. The oxygen sensor (Figure 5) consisted of a sealed capsule containing red and infrared emitting diodes, a photo detector and an integrated circuit, located 2.8 cm from the lead tip. It used tines for passive fixation. Oxygen saturation was detected as a ratio of red/infrared reflection as the sensor emitted red and infra-red light into the blood. The reflectance of the red light depended on the proportion of oxygenated hemoglobin which also indicated "changes in the color of the blood" (e.g., arterial blood with high oxygen saturation = light red; venous blood with low oxygen saturation = dark red). The reflection of infrared light was relatively independent of oxygenated hemoglobin and therefore served as a reference. A photodiode detected the reflected light and measured the time required for fixed amount of light energy to be collected. That time related to the oxygen saturation level. An electrical signal was transmitted to the pulse generator using the outer coil connector of the lead.

The pressure sensing lead (Model 4328A,



Figure 5. *Mixed venous oxygen sensor* Oxygen saturation was detected as a ratio of red/infrared reflection as the sensor emitted red and infra-red light into the blood. Red light was dependent on the proportion of oxygenated hemoglobin while the infrared light was independent and served as a reference. A photodiode detected the reflected light and measured the time until a fixed amount of light energy has been collected. That time correlated to the oxygen saturation level.

Medtronic, Inc., Minneapolis, USA) was a unipolar, 58cm lead with polyurethane insulation. The pressure sensor capsule was placed 3 cm proximal to the tip and had a maximum diameter of 3.7 mm. It used tines for passive fixation. A nickel alloy was utilized as conductor while the sensor capsule was constructed of titanium and titanium alloys, which were covered in polyurethane and medical adhesive. The pressure sensor capsule (Figure 6) was hermetically sealed and included a deflectable titanium diaphragm. Motion of the diaphragm changed the capacitance and thereby reflected pressure change. Digital sampling was used to construct continuous pressure waveforms for storing hemodynamic information. From each cardiac cycle, right ventricular systolic (RVSP) and diastolic (RVDP) pressure, maximum positive and negative change in pressure over time (dP/ dt), pre-ejection and systolic time interval, central venous temperature and heart rate were measured. Pulmonary artery diastolic pressure (ePAD) was estimated as the right ventricular pressure at the time of dP/dt_{max} (Figure 7, 58-60).

It has been suggested that with the sensor placed in the apex, there might be an increased risk of



Figure 6. Pressure sensor Motion of the titanium diaphragm in response to the cardiac contraction changed the capacitance and thereby reflected changes in cardiac pressure. Digital sampling was used to construct continuous pressure waveforms for storing hemodynamic information. The diaphragm was connected to the internal circuitry that transmitted the pressure data up the lead to the IHM for measurement and storage.



Figure 7. Schematic illustration of how the hemodynamic variables are derived from the intracardiac signal and the pressure waveform. The pulmonary artery diastolic pressure (ePAD) is derived from the right ventricular pressure waveform at the time of maximum dP/dt when the pulmonary valve opens and the pressure in the right ventricle (RV) and the pulmonary artery (PA) are assumed to be equal. Right ventricular diastolic pressure (RVDP) is measured at the time of R-wave detection and the right ventricular systolic pressure (RVSP) is measured as the maximal pressure in a 500 ms window, starting at time of r-wave detection. Pre ejection interval (PEI), systolic time interval (STI) and heart rate (RR-interval) is also measured.

tissue overgrowth (62, 64). Therefore, the tip of the lead was placed in the right ventricular outflow tract or high on the right ventricular septum in the belief that a placement in areas of high flow would reduce tissue encapsulation.

Technical components - devices

The OxyElite (Model 8007, Medtronic, Inc., Minneapolis, USA) was a dual chamber, unipolar, rate response pacemaker. Rateresponse was provided by an activity sensor, a piezoelectric crystal mounted on the inside of the pacemaker can. The algorithms for the activity sensor as well as the pacemaker functions were the same as in the Elite (Model 7075, Medtronic, Inc., Minneapolis, USA) pacemaker. Pacemaker parameters and mixed venous oxygen saturation histograms stored in the device memory were interrogated by use of the pacemaker programmer (Model 9760, Medtronic, Inc., Minneapolis, USA). The oxygen saturation histogram feature in the OxyElite continuously measured and stored mixed venous oxygen saturation in 4-second intervals during ambulatory conditions and sorted the measurements into eight histogram bins ranging from <49% up to >77% in steps of 4%. When the programmer telemetry head was placed over the pacemaker, real time mixed



Figure 8. The interactive remote monitor with the flat radio frequency antenna is shown behind the implantable hemodynamic monitoring system consisting of the Chronicle IHM and pressure sensor lead to the left and the external pressure reference to the right.

venous oxygen saturation could be read on the programmer screen and/or stored on a diskette for future analysis.

The implantable hemodynamic monitor (IHM; Models 10440; IHM-1 and 9520; Chronicle®, Medtronic, Inc., Minneapolis, USA) was a memory device that stored values from a sensor or sensors placed in the right ventricle. The IHM-1 was equipped with two sensor leads, one oxygen sensor and one pressure sensor while the Chronicle only had the pressure sensor (Figure 8). The other major difference between the two devices was the memory capacity. The IHM-1 had a 32 kilobytes random access memory and the Chronicle 128 kilobytes. This affected the resolution of the stored data and allowed the Chronicle to store values at a higher resolution for longer periods than the IMH-1. In most other aspects both IHM's were similar. Beat-by-beat values from the pressure sensor were stored as the median

and range (6th and 94th percentiles) over each storage interval. The IHM-1 also stored mixed venous oxygen saturation. The storage interval was programmable, ranging from 3 hours to 3 months, and could be adjusted to fit the patient's follow-up schedule. With a storage interval of 3 hours one data point represents 2 seconds. This storage interval was used when the patient was in the clinic for an acute test such as catheterization. exercise test or drug intervention. A longer storage interval was used when the patient was at home. In the early studies, longer storage intervals (1-3 months) were used as the patient had to come to the clinic for data retrieval. After the Chronicle information network (see next paragraph) was introduced, a storage interval of 1-2 weeks where each data point represents 4-8 minutes became the standard.

The right ventricular pressure sensor measured absolute pressure, requiring correction for continuously varying ambient atmospheric pressures by a time-synchronized external pressure reference (EPR) device (Figure 8). Through the use of custom software, the absolute sensor data was then corrected for changes in barometric pressure. Activity counts were determined by a piezoelectric crystal mounted inside the monitor can.

The interactive remote monitor (IRM; Model 9521, Medtronic, Inc., Minneapolis, USA) was used to send the data stored in the IHM from any remote site having a standard phone line, e.g. the patient's home, to a central server. The IRM had a flat radio frequency antenna, which was placed over the implanted device and the patient's EPR was placed in a separate slot in the IRM for transmission of the collected barometric pressure (Figure 8). The IRM was operated by a one-button maneuver that started the download of the IHM and EPR data and the transmission by a built in modem that dialed an Internet Service Provider (ISP) to transfer the data to the central server. Patients followed the transmission procedure by observing indicator lights on the IRM. When the process was completed the IRM modem automatically disconnected from the ISP. If a file transfer failed, an email message was sent to the treating clinic requesting that the clinic staff contact the patient to request a repeat file transfer.

The Chronicle information network (Figure 9) provided the health care staff with easy access to the patient's hemodynamic information. The user logged on to a Web site using a personal ID and password to gain access to data from patients registered at their clinic. A quick-

look screen displayed a summary table of night time rest values (midnight to 04:00, at zero activity counts) during the last datacollection period alongside data from any one previous data-collection period. Differences between the periods were shown as actual values (real change) and as percentage change (Figure 10). Based on individualized, expected ranges for each variable, out of range data and/or changes in individual variables were highlighted. Data were also displayed as trends of all hemodynamic variables, with resolution depending on the length of the displayed period (Figure 11). Separate trends were also provided of the last 6 months of night time rest data. A list of triggered events with the option to review events in high resolution and samples of pressure waveforms were also available. Additionally, the user could enter notes describing changes in treatment, interventions, hospitalizations or other information.

The distribution of the technical components in Study I-VI can be found in Table 3.

Study I

OxyElite, long term follow-up of an implantable Sv02 sensor

Nine consecutive patients with an indication for a DDD pacemaker were implanted with an OxyElite, a dual chamber pacemaker modified to utilize a right ventricular oxygen saturation lead.

	Study I (n=9)	Study II* (n=32)	Study III* (n=134)	Study IV (n=21)	Study V (n=5)	Study VI (n=16)
Oxygen sensing lead	Х			Х		
Pressure sensing lead		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
OxyElite	Х					
IHM-1				Х		
Chronicle IHM		Х	Х		Х	Х
Interactive remote monitor		Х	Х			
Chronicle information network		Х	Х			

 Table 3. Use of the technical components in the studies included in this thesis

*The patients in Study II who received an IHM in USA and were still being in follow-up when remote monitoring was introduced are also included in Study III. Except for these studies there was no overlap in study populations between the studies.



Figure 9. Chronicle information network architecture. Stored hemodynamic data is transmitted from the implantable hemodynamic monitor via an interactive remote monitor or a programmer/personal computer to a central server. Data can be viewed from any web-enabled computer.

The average age was 69 ± 14 years, two patients were in NYHA class I and seven in NYHA class II. The indications for a pacemaker were; AV-block II-III (n=5), AV-block I with syncope (n=1), bradycardia (n=2) and sick sinus syndrome (n=1). Six patients had a history of ischemic heart disease. All patients except one were treated with aspirin during the course of the study.

Invasive studies comparing the mixed venous oxygen saturation from the implanted sensor to reference (Opticath, Oximetrix system, Abbot Laboratories, Chicago, USA) was performed at 0, 3 and 9 months. Symptom limited, bicycle exercise tests were performed 1-7 days, 3.5 and 9.5 months post-implant. Metabolic assessment (CPX, MedGraphics, St Paul, USA), venous oxygen saturation from the implanted sensor and arterial oxygen saturation (Ohmeda, Louisville, USA) measurements during the exercise test allowed for cardiac output calculations using the Fick principle.

Sub-maximal bicycle exercise tests (5 minutes at 60% of the previously determined maximal workload) were performed every 2-4 weeks during the first year of follow up and subsequently every 6 months. After 3-3.5 years of follow up, the bike test was replaced by an uncontrolled exercise that included mixed venous oxygen saturation measurements at supine rest and after 30-60 seconds of light exercise. This walk-in-place test was performed at each 6-

Hemodynamic Variables - M	icrosoft Internet Explorer			G • <u>- 8</u>		
File Edit View Favorites 1	Tools Help	1.44		- III		
3 Back • 🕤 • 🗶 👔 👔	P Search 😪 Favorites 🚱 🔯 • 🏹 🖉 •	112.3				
ddress e https://hf.medtronic.c	com/cgi-bin/WebObjects/ChronicleWeb.woa/	ARC				
Google [G]-		opups okay	k 👻 🐴 AutoLink 👻 🐚 AutoFill 🍺 Send	to 🕶 🍐 🛛 🥥 Settings 🕶 🦷 🔹		
🕀 Medtronic	Hemodynamic Varia	ables	Chronicle Serial Num	Patient ID:		
Patient List	Triggered Episodes: 22-Mar-2007 to	o 29-Mar-2007	Observations			
Data:	Tachy: 0 Brady: 0 Patient:	0	- None			
Hemodynamic Variables						
Trends View:						
Last Week						
Last Year						
Triggered Episodes		Thic	Previous			
<u>Niqhtly Minimums List</u>		Transmis	sion Transmission	Difference		
Nightly Minimums Trend		(29-Mar-2	007)			
votes						
<u>lew Note</u>	Mean Hemodynamic Values at Rest	(more information)	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i			
Set IIn:	Total nights at rest*	7/7	7/7			
Load Data	Heart Rate (bpm)	80	80	0 (0.0 %)		
Change Password	RV Diastolic Pressure (mmHg)	13	11	2 (18.2 %)		
Icor Manual	RV Systolic Pressure (mmHg)	46	43	3 (7.0 %)		
<u>oser manuar</u>	ePAD (mmHg)	25	23	2 (8.7 %)		
Logoff	Mean Pulmonary Artery Pressure (mmHg)	37	34	3 (8.8 %)		
📙 Printer Friendly Format	RV dP/dt _{max} (mmHg/sec)	366	355	11 (3.1 %)		
	RV Pulse Pressure (mmHg)	32	30	2 (6.7 %)		
	- Out of range (<u>adjust ranges</u>)					
				A life fature at		

Figure 10. An example from the quick look screen used on the Chronicle information network. The screen shows the night time minimum values from the last transmission (column to the left), a previous transmission (column in the middle) and changes between the two selected transmissions (column to the right).



Figure 11. An example from the Chronicle information network showing a 1-month, continuous hemodynamic trend. Each data point represents a 2 hour median.

month follow-up visit for the remaining time of follow-up. Mixed venous oxygen saturation was recorded at supine rest before exercise, at peak exercise and following recovery after exercise.

Study II

Components of continuous 24-hour pressures that correlate to supine resting conditions and acute right heart catheterization

Thirty-two patients diagnosed with chronic heart failure received an IHM. The average age was 59±10 years, one patient was in NYHA class I, 14 in NYHA class II and 17 in NYHA class III. Nineteen patients had heart failure of ischemic origin, and the average LVEF was 29±11%. All patients except one were treated with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin-II receptor blockers while betablockers were used in 78% and diuretics in 88%. At time of implant the average right ventricular systolic pressure was 48.3 ± 16.2 mmHg, right ventricular diastolic pressure 9.4 ± 5.3 mmHg, estimated pulmonary artery diastolic pressure $23.3 \pm 8.9 \text{ mmHg}$ and heart rate 76.5 ± 15.1 bpm.

During the first year after implant the patients participated in monthly clinic visits for the first 6 months and bimonthly thereafter. At each clinic visit the IHM data was collected in a high- resolution mode (storage interval of 2 seconds) during a controlled, supine rest period of at least 5 minutes. Data from the last minute of the resting period were averaged and defined as "controlled rest". Between clinic visits the IHM was programmed to continuously store hemodynamic values and heart rate. Data were stored as medians and the 6th and 94th percentiles for each storage interval. The recommended follow-up interval programming was 1 month (storage interval 24 minutes) for the first 6 months and 2 months (storage interval 48 minutes) thereafter, although other resolutions were allowed depending on the patients or the investigators schedules. Values from the week before and the week after each clinic visit were averaged and represent the ambulatory data. The ambulatory hemodynamic values were divided into 7 components of a 24hour recording (Figure 12) and compared to the controlled rest values.

All patients also underwent right heart catheterizations at the time of IHM implant and at 3, 6 and 12 months after IHM implant to verify system performance. This included independent measures of pulmonary artery and right ventricular pressures using fluid filled catheters. The method found to be the best estimate of controlled rest was compared to acute invasive catheterization values.

Study III

Trans-telephonic monitoring of continuous hemodynamic measurements

Over a 3-year period, from September 1998 through October 2001, 148 patients had an IHM implanted worldwide. The mean age was 56 ± 13 years, 89 were male and average LVEF was 28 ± 14 . The distribution in NYHA classes was 1, 22, 70 and 7 patients for class I, II, III and IV respectively. Mean follow-up time was 23 ± 14 months (range 0.5-53). Of the total implants, 12 were done in Europe and 4 in Canada where the patients did not have IRM access. Thus 134 patients were included in the study.

Transtelephonic transfer of hemodynamic data from the IHM's to the Chronicle information network was analyzed on a monthly and yearly basis from August 2000 to November 2003. Success rate of data transfer, reason for transfer failure and amount of data lost due to transfer failure were analyzed and reported upon.

In addition, a usability study concerning the patient's ability to transmit IHM data was performed in the first 20 patients provided with an IRM. The mean age of these 20 patients was 59 ± 13 years (range 20-75) and 8 were male. Before using the IRM for the first time, the patients underwent a training session including a video film and a hands-on-demonstration on how to setup and use the IRM in their homes. The patients were then asked to call the Medtronic Patient Services directly the three first times they used the IRM in their homes. The Patient Services asked standardized questions about the usability of the system.



Figure 12. Seven different derived estimates from the chronic ambulatory data that seemed the most likely estimators of the controlled supine rest values were identified. A single value was calculated from the 24-hour, ambulatory data for each of the methods listed in the figure.

Study IV

Hemodynamic observations during exercise measured by implantable pressure and oxygen saturation sensors

Twenty-one patients at three centers had an IHM implanted. The mean age was 61 years (range 26-79), 17 were males and the mean LVEF was 24% (range 10-40). Six patients were in NYHA Class II and the remaining 15 in NYHA class III. Fifteen patients had ischemic origin to their heart failure. The patients were followed for a mean of 25 ± 14 (range: 1-39) months.

Standardized, serial exercise tests were performed to evaluate the right ventricular and pulmonary pressures and the mixed venous oxygen saturation responses during

hemodynamic stress.

Three types of exercise was performed; 1) a maximal, symptom limited bicycle exercise test, 2) a submaximal bicycle exercise test, using 30-40% of the patient's maximal load during the baseline symptom limited exercise test and 3) a six-minute walk test. The symptom limited bicycle exercise test was performed just after implant and repeated after two, six and 12 months of follow-up while the submaximal tests on bike or walking was performed approximately every four to six weeks after implant. During all three types of exercise tests, hemodynamic data from the IHM system were stored in the high resolution setting (beat-bybeat measurements averaged over 2-8 second data storage intervals).

Study V

Hemodynamic observations in patients with pulmonary hypertension treated with inhaled Iloprost

Five female patients with pulmonary hypertension received an IHM. Four patients were diagnosed with pulmonary artery hypertension and one with pulmonary venous hypertension. The mean age was 45±16 years, the average right ventricular systolic pressure was 68±13 mmHg. All patients were treated chronically with aerosolized iloprost, a prostacyclin aimed to reduce pulmonary vascular resistance and thereby increase cardiac output and reduce right ventricular pressures.

A 20% reduction in pulmonary artery systolic pressure after inhalation is considered a positive response (83) and is expected to last 60-120 minutes (84) before returning to pre inhalation levels. This necessitates repeated inhalations six to nine times a day to obtain a sustained clinical benefit.

The effect of iloprost inhalation was studied in a supervised ("short") and in a non-supervised ("long term") protocol. The supervised protocol included high resolution hemodynamic data collection (storage interval 2 seconds) for 20 minutes before the start of inhalation, 2 inhalations and 30 minutes after the second inhalation while the patient was at the clinic. This allowed analysis of one full inhalationcycle (four hours) for analysis. The supervised protocol was performed one day after IHM implantation and after one, two, and three months during regular outpatient check-ups.

The non-supervised protocol documented the pulmonary artery systolic pressure (=right ventricular systolic pressure) response of inhaled iloprost in an ambulatory setting with the IHM programmed to a storage interval of 52 seconds. This allowed for four to six inhalations in a 24-hour period. The non-supervised protocol was performed one day after the IHM implantation and after two and five months in coordination with regular outpatient check-ups.

The effective period of inhaled iloprost was defined as the time until a 50% loss of the initial, acute pulmonary artery systolic pressure response.

Study VI

Hemodynamic observations in patients with end stage renal failure treated with hemodialysis

Sixteen patients with end-stage renal disease and on chronic hemodialysis were implanted with an IHM. The mean age was 68±9 years, LVEF 45±9% and LVEDD 49±7 mm. All patients underwent hemodialysis 3 times per week. Two patients had normal urine production. All patients had a peripheral arteriovenous fistula. Hemodynamic measurements from 12 consecutive weeks of observations were analyzed. One value representative of the daytime period, when the patient was assumed to be active, was calculated as an average of all stored median values between 8:00 and 20:00. A value representing rest was analyzed as the night-time minimum (see study II, Figure 12). Averages of the hemodynamic data from the day of dialysis (1st day), the day after dialysis (2nd day) and the day after a weekend (extra day) and data from first, second and third night after dialysis were calculated.

Before and after each dialysis session routine body weight and blood pressure (cuff manometer) was measured at the dialysis ward and symptoms such as leg cramps, headache and nausea during the dialysis were noted.

Statistical methods

The hemodynamic monitor stored all measured data as a median together with the 6th and 94th percentile over a certain, programmable, time period. Conventional statistical methods were used for calculations of means and standard deviation. For paired comparisons between measurements a two sided Student's t-test was used (Study I, II, IV and VI). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to verify hemodynamic changes during exercise in study IV. Statistical differences were considered significant if p<0.05. Descriptive statistics were used in Study III and V. Changes in hemodynamics (Study IV and VI) are presented as percent change for all variables except RVDP where actual values were used. Small changes of RVDP might be proportionally large if expressed as percent change. In Study I the correlations between

mixed venous oxygen values obtained with different methods were evaluated according to a simple linear regression model. The resting hemodynamic data in Study II and IV was calculated from the last 60 seconds of the resting period. Peak exercise values (Study IV) was calculated from the last 15-30 seconds before the exercise was terminated. The ambulatory hemodynamic values in Study II were averaged over 7 days before and/or 7 days after the controlled rest. Ambulatory values in Study VI was measured as mean of a daytime (8:00 – 20:00) medians or a night-time minimum (0:00 – 4:00) value from the day/night before each dialysis treatment.

Ethical consideration

The study protocol was approved by local the ethics committees at the Karolinska Institute (Study I, II, III, IV, VI) and the University of Graz (Study V). All patients gave their informed consent to participate after receiving verbal and written information.

Results

Study I

OxyElite, long term follow-up of an implantable mixed venous oxygen sensor

A total of 24 serial invasive tests were performed in the nine patients during the first year of follow-up. Mixed venous oxygen saturation measured by the implanted oxygen sensor showed high correlations to blood samples and Opticath values collected simultaneously in the pulmonary artery (Figure 13). During the same period, the patients performed 23 cardiopulmonary exercise tests with breathto-breath cardiac output measurements. The oxygen sensor as well as the cardiac output measurements at rest were stable over time and showed a reproducible response to posture changes and exercise.

Long-term follow-up of the oxygen sensor performance was evaluated by the sub-maximal exercise tests and "walking-in-place" tests. Eighty-eight submaximal bicycle tests and 23 walking-in-place tests were performed during the study. The resting mixed venous oxygen saturation values were stable over the six years of follow-up (NS vs. the 1 year follow-up) and the response to the exercise showed a good reproducibility.

Study II

Components of continuous 24-hour pressures that correlate to supine resting conditions and acute right heart catheterization

Resting hemodynamic values was available in 30 patients from a total of 145 clinic visits. Ambulatory data from the week before and after the visit was used as comparison. The average right ventricular and pulmonary artery pressures at rest were elevated. All hemodynamic methods derived from the 24 hour IHM data, except the night-time minimum with zero activity method, overestimated resting values of right ventricular systolic and diastolic pressures and ePAD (estimated pulmonary artery diastolic pressure). There was no difference between resting pressure values and the night-time



Figure 13. Panel A: the correlation between SvO2 measurements by the implanted SvO2 sensor and pulmonary artery blood SvO2. Panel B: the correlation between SvO2 measurements by the implanted SvO2 sensor and the Swan-Ganz opticath. Values are from rest and exercise performed at implant (only rest), 3 and 9 months after implant. Both methods demonstrate a good correlation, although a greater variability was observed during exercise (lower SvO2 values).



Figure 14. Number of patients that sent data via the interactive remote monitor to the Chronicle information network and total number of transmitted files are shown on a quarterly basis. The bars are divided into successful and non-successful transmissions.

minimum pressure values (<0.05 mmHg, NS). Therefore, the night-time minimum pressure was chosen as the component of the 24-hour continuous hemodynamic recording that best approximated rest. Resting heart rate was significantly different from all of the seven methods applied on the ambulatory data and interestingly, the night-time minimum heart rate was the poorest estimate.

The values from the right heart catheter (right ventricular systolic pressure 45 ± 17 mmHg, right ventricular diastolic pressure 12 ± 6 mmHg, estimated pulmonary artery diastolic pressure 24 ± 8 mmHg) were higher than the night-time minimum, although for right ventricular diastolic pressure the difference was not statistically significant. None of the other IHM parameters from the 7 methods in this study consistently approximated values derived from right heart catheterizations.

Study III

Trans-telephonic monitoring of continuous haemodynamic measurements

During the study period, 7791 data transmissions were performed and of those 6778 were successfully transmitted. Ten percent had to be retransmitted at least once and 1.5% at least twice. Success rate was stable over time and independent of number of transmitted files or number of active patients (Figure 14). One year after the first transmission, an average of 244 files was transmitted each month with a mean frequency of 6.5 days between transmissions. Variations in the number of file transmissions related to fluctuations in number of active patients and upgrades to the technology seen over the course of the study. Failed transfers were most commonly related to interrupted telephone transmission or errors related to the external pressure reference.



Figure 15. Continuous, high resolution (2 second) hemodynamic data collected and stored by the implantable hemodynamic monitor during three different types of exercise (maximal exercise test, 6 minute walk test and submaximal bike test). All three trends are from the same patient. The trends show heart rate (HR), mixed venous oxygen saturation (SvO2) measured in the right ventricle, right ventricular systolic and diastolic pressure (RVSP, RVDP) and estimated pulmonary artery diastolic pressure (ePAD).

Patients included in the usability study performed 109 successful data transmissions within the first 3-48 days after receiving the IRM. In reply to the usability questions, patients ranked the IRM as "very easy to use" 93% of the time and as "somewhat easy to use" for the rest. Age or gender did not appear to make a difference in the responses. Nine calls from six patients requested technical support. Four calls were due to an incorrect password in the IRM. Reconnecting the telephone plug or repositioning the external pressure reference in its slot solved the remaining five problems.

Study IV

Hemodynamic observations during exercise measured by implantable pressure and oxygen saturation sensors

During the course of follow-up the patients performed 70 maximal exercise tests on bike, 196 submaximal bike tests and 172 6-min walk tests. Hemodynamic values at rest were similar for all tests, heart rate 78 ± 15 bpm, mixed venous oxygen saturation $65\pm9\%$, right ventricular systolic pressure 41 ± 13 mmHg, right ventricular diastolic pressure 6 ± 4 mmHg and estimated pulmonary artery diastolic pressure 20 ± 6 mmHg. During the maximal exercise test heart rate increased by 52 ± 19 bpm while mixed venous oxygen saturation decreased by 35 ± 10 saturation units (%). Right ventricular systolic and diastolic pressure increased 29 ± 11 and 11 ± 6 mmHg, respectively, while estimated pulmonary artery diastolic pressure increased 21 ± 8 mmHg (Figure 15).

Compared to the hemodynamic response during maximal exercise test, submaximal bike and walk tests resulted in mixed venous oxygen saturation changes of 80 and 91% of the maximal test values, while changes in right ventricular and pulmonary artery pressures ranged from 70 to 79% of maximal test responses. This indicates that the hemodynamic response during submaximal exercise tests reflects changes achieved during maximal exercise in patients with heart failure.



Figure 16. Right ventricular systolic pressure tracing during 20-hours in a patient with pulmonary hypertension, treated with inhaled iloprost. The arrows mark the beginning of each iloprost inhalation.

Study V

Hemodynamic observations in patients with pulmonary hypertension treated with inhaled iloprost

Patients included in the study had various degrees of pulmonary hypertension as indicated from their right ventricular systolic pressure measured before starting the inhalation. The average pressure was 68±13 mmHg, varying from mild (45mmHg) to severe (119mmHg) in the five patients. All patients had a positive acute response to inhaled iloprost, expressed as a reduction of pulmonary artery systolic pressure of 20% or more. In the supervised protocol, the inhalations were performed in the hospital under a clinician's supervision. The time at effective pressure response levels was rather short, varying from 29 to 80 minutes per inhalation. Average time for all patients was 49 ± 8 minutes.

In the non-supervised protocol, performed while the patients were at home, the pulmonary artery systolic pressure levels before inhalations as well as the maximal response to inhalations (Figure 16) were comparable to the values in the short-term protocol. However, the time at the lower pressure levels were 19 minutes in the long-term protocol compared to 31 minutes in the short-term protocol. As a consequence of this, the total effective treatment time was shorter in the non-supervised protocol (33 ± 3) minutes) than in the supervised protocol. During the total recorded time, 265 hours, the time at effective vasodilatation lasted only 13% of the whole time span.

Study VI

Hemodynamic observations in patients with end stage renal failure treated with hemodialysis

Fifteen patients had continuous hemodynamic recordings for 12 weeks after the IHM implant. One patient had only 5 weeks of hemodynamic data recorded. During the study period a total of 555 hemodialysis treatments were performed in these 16 patients (Figure 17).

Progressive increments in daytime cardiac pressures were observed in all patients when the 1st day was compared to the 2nd and the extra day. On the 2nd day the right ventricular systolic pressure and estimated pulmonary artery diastolic pressures had increased 8-9%. On the extra day, the pressures had increased an additional 5-7% compared to the 1st day. Significantly higher right ventricular and pulmonary pressures were reached on the extra night after dialysis in 14 of 16 patients. Two patients with preserved diuresis did not show any change in cardiac pressures.



Figure 17. Patient example illustrating an eight day trend with right ventricular systolic (RVSP) and diastolic (RVDP) pressures, estimated pulmonary artery pressure (ePAD) and heart rate. Hemodialysis procedures (HD) are indicated at the top of the graph. Activity count shows the time spent physically active. The solid line shows the median value and the shaded areas are the range (6 and 94 percentile).

The patient's weight increased 2.3 ± 1.1 kg before the second and third dialysis in the week. After a weekend, the patient's weight had increased 3.1 ± 1.7 kg. There was no significant difference in cuff blood pressure before and after dialysis or between dialysis sessions.

General discussion

The implantable hemodynamic monitor provides an opportunity to observe continuous heart rate and right ventricular and pulmonary artery pressures in the ambulant patient. This information can be a valuable complement to traditional patient assessment and support the clinician in establishing an optimal range of hemodynamic values in the individual patient. The result may be better quality of life and a reduced need for in-hospital care.

The three first papers in this thesis aim to establish a platform showing that implantable biosensors and the technology surrounding them are feasible and how to handle the huge amount of data that is collected and stored by the implantable hemodynamic monitor 24-hours, every day and all year long. The three latter papers aim to demonstrate clinical usefulness of the implantable hemodynamic monitor in cardiovascular diseases associated with compromised hemodynamics. The commonality between the papers is that clinically relevant hemodynamic values can be measured from the right ventricle and that these observations may help make therapeutic decisions and evaluate disease progression.

Mixed venous oxygen saturation - what does it mean?

The importance of mixed venous oxygen saturation is not always recognized. Cardiac output alone or together with other diagnostic information e.g. cardiac or systemic pressures, heart rate and arterial oxygen saturation does not reflect the tissues metabolic demand or if this demand is met. To assess this, values from both oxygenated (arterial) as well as deoxygenated (venous) blood is needed. While arterial oxygen saturation can be accurately measured with non-invasive methods (63,64), measurement of mixed venous oxygen saturation require invasive techniques, or with an implantable sensor, a "semi-invasive" technique (Study I and IV).

Long term stability of the oxygen sensor

The oxygen sensor used in Studies I and IV was initially developed for rate adaptive pacing but long term stability in oxygen measurements could not be proven (85-87) and the sensor was abandoned for this purpose. After changes in sensor design had been made to improve function, the oxygen sensor was implanted for monitoring purposes, attached to a pacemaker lead in Study I and as a sensor lead in an IHM system (64, Study IV). The oxygen sensor in Study I demonstrated a reliable long term performance over six years. This was in contrast to Study IV where 40% of the oxygen sensors showed intermittent responses or stopped responding within the first year (64) without any apparent technical explanation. Tissue overgrowth might have been augmented due to the presence of two sensors in the ventricle, but this hypothesis was never proven and the real cause remains unknown. As a consequence the oxygen sensor was removed from the next generation IHM system, the Chronicle[®]. However, the research to develop an oxygen sensor with improved long-term stability has continued and could possibly be reintegrated in a future IHM system.

Utility of continuous mixed venous oxygen saturation

When the patients in Study I received the pacemaker with mixed venous oxygen measurement capabilities, they either had no or only mild symptoms of heart failure (NYHA class I-II). However, during the follow-up period of more than 6 years some patients developed symptoms of other cardiovascular diseases. The ambulatory oxygen saturations showed interesting changes in the trend patterns that were consistent with changes in the patients' medical conditions. As this was a pilot study, this observation will need to be confirmed in a larger patient group. The findings, however, are to some extent supported in Study IV where patients with symptomatic heart failure and an IHM with both pressure and oxygen saturation sensors were studied.

During exercise, even at low levels of exertion such as moving from supine to sitting, a rapid decrease in mixed venous oxygen saturation was observed (Figure 15). This indicates that during daily life activities, one could expect to see more time spent at lower mixed venous oxygen saturation in patients with a more severe disease status.

Due to the need for invasive procedure, the use of mixed venous oxygen saturation is underutilized. Nevertheless, if this measurement could be integrated in the IHM it would have potential to alert the clinician on early changes in the patient's condition and to support diagnostic and therapeutic decisions in patients receiving an IHM.

Making sense of continuous hemodynamic data

"The best thing with the IHM is that it gives us a lot of data. The worst thing with the IHM is that it gives us a lot of data" (88). This quote, from a clinician who has been working with the IHM for many years, is very true. The IHM measures every waveform and stores a median value of those measurements every 4-8 minutes. With an expected battery life of 3.5-4 years, this means $250000 \sim 500000$ values from each variable are collected during the IHM's lifetime. All these values have to be processed and displayed in a manner that makes it possible for the user to interpret the data and then act accurately to the gained information. In other words, it is important to find the variable or varaibles that together with the best analysis method can provide the most relevant data for clinical management in individual patients, with a variety of diagnoses and with different clinical questions to be answered. The discussion below will focus on analysis methods and presentation of data.

Night time minimum values

The analysis performed in Study II was an attempt to find one data point from the 24-hour continuous hemodynamic data that would reflect measurements typically acquired during supine rest in the clinicians office. This value would then be used to get a "quick look" or a "snap shot" of the changes going on in the patients hemodynamic trend over time (Figure 10). The method applied to the ambulatory data that was found to best mimic a controlled, supine rest value was the lowest value collected by the IHM between midnight and 4 am when the patient was at rest as indicated by zero activity counts. This method is referred to as the *nighttime minimum value*. Changes in the night time minimum values will likely reflect changes in volume status and provide an easy mean for the user to decide when to look in more detail at the full hemodynamic trends or not.

Median and range values

The Chronicle information network (Study III) is the web based application where the IHM data is displayed and it utilizes the night time minimum from Study II on its first page. With this "quick look" the user can get a first impression if changes have occurred since the last transmission of hemodynamic data. Next, the hemodynamic trend data are displayed with four different time scales (Figure 18). All trends show median, maximum and minimum values. The one year view shows daily medians and ranges (daily maximum and minimum) that provide an image reflecting long-term disease progress or treatment effects. This type of general hemodynamic changes might be hard to visualize in trends covering a shorter time period. However, one-month or one-week trends, showing 2-hour median and range values, allow for more detailed observations of short term hemodynamic changes in association with acute hyper or hypovolemia, response to drug interventions or arrhythmias. The detailed trends over one-day (6-minute median and range), together with a description of symptoms or activities can support findings associated with alternations in the circadian patterns (89). For example, sudden pressure changes during night might indicate sleep apnea (90) or if they occur in the morning hours they could be effects linked to medication intake (89).

Today, when evaluating a patient's hemodynamic trend on the Chronicle information network all the aspects above have to be taken into account. Though this is less time consuming than it might sound, it is very much dependent on the users



ePulmonary Artery Diastolic Pressure (mmHg)

Figure 18. Illustration of the four timescales used on the Chronicle information network to display continuous hemodynamic trends. All trends show a median value (black line) and 94th and 6th percentiles (gray lines).

experience, knowledge and skills. To manage the patients in the daily care, algorithms that automatically detect changes from the patient individual "optimal" are a necessity. Such methods have been reported (76) and could be implemented in future generations of the IHM system.

High resolution values

The IHM can also store hemodynamic data in a 2 second resolution for 3 hours. Using an IHM designated programmer, high resolution data can be printed for immediate review or saved to disc for later processing. Thus, this resolution

is restricted to use in the clinic and the most common use today is hemodynamic observations during exercise testing (Study IV) or drug interventions (Study V). However, it might be speculated that broader uses of this high resolution data could be helpful in remote monitoring. Standardized home exercise could be followed closely and improvements or declines in patient status might be detected early. Drug titrations could be performed with a greater base of knowledge of hemodynamic effects. Acute treatments could be given at the patients local hospital or clinic and supervised by the primary treating center (or a specialist treating center) located somewhere else. The list of possibilities is endless.

In summary, each of the hemodynamic trends and resolutions has the potential to add value in its own way. The high resolution display of the data offers new insights and better understanding of the underlying pathophysiology and comorbidities of diseases while averaging and calculations of medians give an opportunity to observe long-term changes of the disease state. Various resolutions may all affect the patient treatment and might be essential to provide a better care of patients with cardiopulmonary disease.

Alternative hemodynamic monitoring possibilities

Development of implantable pressure monitoring systems is also being attempted by others. Examples of these systems include the use of pressure sensors placed in the pulmonary artery (HeartSensor[™]; CardioMEMs and Remon Implant; Remon Technologies), in the left atrium (HeartPod[™]; Savacor, St Jude) or in the left ventricle (LVP-1000; Transoma Medical). These sensors are positioned by means of invasive techniques but do not have a permanently implanted transvenous lead or memory device. Thus, the sensors provide only "snap-shot" on-demand readings, retrieved with an external activation source held outside the body. In Study II we showed that cardiac pressures measured with the IHM at rest either in the patient's home environment (night, no activity) or during a clinic visit were very similar to each other. This "snap shot" value extracted

from the continuous trend was intended to give the user guidance for further exploration of the stored hemodynamic trends. Ongoing and future studies will show if the "snap shot" approach, when measured recurrently and in the ambulatory setting, provides enough information to improve the patient's quality of life and outcome or if more comprehensive data that includes ambulatory information will add incremental benefits.

Telemonitoring – a future perspective in patient care

Telemonitoring, the use of information technology to remotely monitor health status, fits well with modern demands for patient care. Improved communication systems allow for rapid and safe transfer of information from one location to another. Today a broad spectrum of applications e.g. weight, ECG, arterial oximetry, blood pressure, heart rate and symptoms can be transferred from patients via telephone lines, cell phones or internet to their clinicians (91-93). Most studies have shown high levels of acceptance by the users and good compliance with these systems.

The Chronicle information network has been available since the autumn of 2000. Study III describes the early phases and the first versions of the system. Since then hundreds of additional patients in USA and Europe have transmitted IHM data to the Chronicle information network. The findings in Study III demonstrated that patients, independent of age and disease severity, seemed to be able to handle the technology in a satisfying way. Results from the COMPASS-HF trial (75) that included 274 patients diagnosed with heart failure in a wide range of ages and with some patients in a severe disease stage (NYHA class III-IV, age range 21 to 91 years) showed 99% transmission compliance to the Chronicle information network. These results support the conclusion in Study III, that use of telemonitoring for the IHM system is feasible. And, it should only get easier as future technology implementations like wireless transmissions (94) make the technical skills of the user superfluous.

Today's modern society is working in an environ-

ment were technology is becoming an integrated part of daily life. Next generations of patients will probably require less travel, less time off from work or activities and lower costs for health care. At the same time they will also expect the quality and accessibility of care to be higher than today. Telemonitoring could provide the patient easy access and feedback of information that might help self-adjusting of medications and support drug and diet compliance. In addition, the feeling of security patients might sense by being monitored should not be underestimated.

From the care givers perspective it is important that the telemonitoring system can be integrated in the clinic setting. This will necessitate reorganization of the outpatient clinic to accommodate interpretation of new data and to be able give proper patient advice based on the received information. Also, it is important that the new technology contributes to the sentiment of giving satisfactory care without increasing the economic or time burden for the staff at the clinic. After reviewing the literature about available telemonitoring systems, interestingly, no systematic evaluation of the staff's satisfaction with telemonitoring was found. To make telemonitoring an integrated part of the health care system all aspects should be taken into consideration and studies in this field are warranted.

Continuous hemodynamic monitoring – a cardiovascular disease management tool

Access to continuous hemodynamic trends means that administration of treatments aimed to improve cardiovascular function can be made based on an improved platform of knowledge. Treatment choice and drug dosage can be founded on individual patient response at the present stage of the disease. Figure 19 illustrates difficulties in finding the correct dosage of beta-blockers in a patient with heart failure (95). Recommendations for treatments and target dosage are usually based on large study materials. Over and/or under treatment is probably more common than currently known and might lead to inadequate response as well as intolerance or unnecessary side effects. Optimizing and individualizing treatments

by the use of the hemodynamic information provided by an IHM might homogenize therapy response and thereby further improve the patient's quality of life during daily living. Dietary and drug compliance are other important factors in the patient care and the IHM can also be used to educate the patient by showing what salty snacks (Figure 20) or skipping diuretics (Figure 21) do to their cardiac pressures.

Heart Failure

Peak VO2, reached during maximal exercise is considered a good predictor of mortality (96-98) and is commonly used as an endpoint in heart failure trials and in the evaluation of patients for heart transplantation. However, submaximal tests are generally easier to perform and more convenient for the patient. Six-minute walk tests are highly reproducible (99,100) and have become the standard in large, multi center trials to show improvement and serve as an indicator of disease progress.

Study IV evaluated the hemodynamic response to maximal and submaximal levels of exercise. Two types of submaximal exercise were performed, a 6-minute walk test and a 6-minute upright bike test where the patients peddled at a steady rate of 40% of their maximal workload. There was no difference in pressure or heart rate response between the two submaximal tests. Those changes, achieved during submaximal exercise were 70-90% of the responses reached at the peak of the maximal exercise tests.

Another study (101) in a similar heart failure population (Study III population) investigated the correlation of submaximal exercise response to daily hemodynamic ranges. The results showed that the peak pressure values reached during a 6-minute walk test were 80-90% of those during the daily measurements (Figure 22). Therefore we believe that the hemodynamic response to exercise reflects the hemodynamic response in daily activities in heart failure patients. Submaximal exercise tests could thus replace maximal test in the assessment of the heart failure patient's functional status during daily activities.

Moreover, patients with an IHM could perform scheduled, predefined activities on a regular basis at home, mimicking those carried out



Figure 19. Sixty-two year old man with ischemic cardiomyopathy, NYHA class III. The trends show the daily median (black line) and the daily ranges (gray lines). At the IHM implant in February 1999 the patient had just started treatment with carvedilol and uptitration to 25 and 50 mg/day (note 1 and 2) continued. In May, 1999 the patient had gained 8 kg over the last month and was admitted to the hospital (note 3). I.v. diuretics were started and the patient diuresed 4 kg in 24-hours. After five more days on i.v. diuretics, no further weight loss was achieved. Carvedilol was then lowered to 38 mg/day (note 4) and the patient lost another 4 kg within the next 2 days and could be discharged to home. One year later carvedilol was increased to 50 mg/day (note 5) without any further consequences.

during daily life such as walking around the block, up and down stairs or carrying grocery bags or a load of laundry. The hemodynamic response would be available for the clinician to review on the Chronicle information network and might at occasions be able to replace the clinical assessment at the hospital. The response to this type of exercises would give a good



Figure 20. Sixty-two year old woman diagnosed with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy in 2002. At time of implant in December 2004 the patient is in NYHA class III. The trends show the daily median (black line) and the daily ranges (gray lines) over one month when the patient was non-compliant to dietary restrictions and ate salted popcorns. Note 1 - an increase in right ventricular systolic pressure is noted and the patient was contacted by phone. The patient stated she was feeling OK. Note 2 - reinitiated phone contact with the patient who continued to be dietary non-compliant. The patient's weight increased 4 kg and metolazone 2.5 mg/day was initiated. Note 3 - the patients weight have decreased and the patient considered optivolumic. Carvedilol 6.25 mg/day was initiated.

estimate on how heavy daily activity in fact is for a patient and comparisons over time could serve as an indicator on deterioration or improvement.

An additional finding in Study IV was that

mixed venous oxygen saturation decreased more during the 6-minute walk test than during the 6minute bike test. One explanation might be that the 6-minute walk test exposes patients to a higher workload compared with the limited bicycle test.



Figure 21. Seventy-eight year old man with dilated cardiomyopathy, NYHA class II who developed general eczema and was admitted to the dermatology department (note 1). Due to suspected drug allergy, carvedilol was terminated and bisoprolol started before hospital discharge (note 2). Three weeks later the patient was seen at the ER for hypoglycemia and by mistake, diuretic treatment was stopped (note 3). The mistake was discovered the next time the patient sent IHM data to the IN website and after phone contact, diuretic treatment was restarted. Due to deteriorating health the patient was non-compliant with drug intake and in June and July the patient was admitted 3 times to the cardiology clinic for volume overload and treatment with i.v. diuretics. During each hospitalization the cardiac pressures decreased but immediately increased when the patient returned home (notes 4-6). In August, 2006 the patient moved to an assisted living facility and with support from the staff, drug compliance improved and cardiac pressures decreased. The trends show the daily median (black line) and the daily ranges (gray lines).



Figure 22. Hemodynamic ranges during a 6 min walk tests (striped bars) and during ambulatory measurements (solid gray bar). The bottom of the bar is the resting value, e.g. for the exercise tests it is the rest before exercise and for ambulatory data it is the daily minimum. The top of the solid bar is the maximum value, e.g. for the exercise tests it is the peak values of the test and for ambulatory data it is the daily maximum. The top of the solid bar is the maximum value, e.g. for the exercise tests it is the peak values of the test and for ambulatory data it is the daily maximum. The error bars are the SD of the ranges.

During the walk test, patients were asked to walk as fast as they could while during the bike-test they paddled at a fixed rate and workload which might be less strenuous for some patients. Also, walking does engage the whole body which might increase the total tissue oxygen demand compared to biking which at least at submaximal levels engages mostly the lower body. This type of information might impact daily living recommendations or help deciding type of exercise and level of workload in exercise programs for patients with cardiovascular disease.

Pulmonary hypertension

Medical therapy for patients diagnosed with pulmonary arterial hypertension is targeted directly towards the increased pulmonary vascular resistance and elevated pulmonary artery pressures. Prostacyclins, receptor antagonists and phosphodiesterase inhibitors are treatments available today, most of them approved for use in this patient population in the last decade. The optimal dose of the drug is determined by close monitoring of symptom relief and of hemodynamics where an optimal treatment response is a significant decrease in pulmonary vascular resistance without lowering the systemic pressure to a symptomatic level. This is typically measured as an increase in cardiac output and decrease of pulmonary artery pressures.

Study V looked at hemodynamic response to inhaled iloprost in five patients with pulmonary hypertension. All patients were already on chronic iloprost treatment at the time of IHM implantation. Therefore the hemodynamic treatment effect over time was not evaluated.

The protocols included supervised iloprost inhalations during a hospital visit followed by

a one day period at home with non-supervised inhalations. The same drug dosage and the same nebulizer were used in both settings. The acute effect of iloprost inhalation was a rapid decrease in pulmonary pressures (Figure 16). When the patient was supervised, the time at the low pressure level lasted longer then after a non-supervised inhalation. In contrast, the time to a 50% return of pre-inhalation pressures was similar between the two protocols. So what could have made the difference in the treatment response? Hemodynamic data collection was performed with the IHM programmed to different resolutions (median of 2 vs. 52 seconds) in the two protocols. Although the lower resolution (52 seconds), used when the patients were at home, filtered out the lowest and highest values during the data collection period this would only have impacted a few minutes of the data collection and is unlikely to have caused the difference. Therefore, the most plausible cause is compliance with inhalation techniques and the environment. In the clinic, the patients were observed during the inhalation which implies higher compliance with inhalation recommendations. While at home, the patient might make the inhalation shorter rather than longer and be more prone to return to daily activities immediately when the inhalation is finished. Moreover, the effective treatment time varied between patients. Thus, the IHM might support decisions about inhalation frequency in individual patients and if and when additional treatment is required.

Treatment of patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension has used symptom relief as a sign of decreased pulmonary vascular resistance and increased cardiac output. However, more recently improved right ventricular and pulmonary artery pressures have been suggested as a treatment goal that might lead to improved survival (30). While pressures at rest might show improvement to treatment (34), even a small amount of exertion will increase the right sided cardiac pressures significantly (68,102) due to the non-compliant pulmonary arteries seen in these patients. These increased pressures might cause additional damage to the vasculature if not reversed (30) and thereby accelerate the progression to right heart failure. The IHM, with the pressure sensor placed in

the right ventricle, appears as a promising and exciting new tool in these patients and might support therapy decisions in the setting where multiple drug treatment is common.

Renal failure

In Study VI, patients with end stage renal disease on hemodialysis treatment and with an IHM implanted were investigated. The study focused on evaluation of hemodynamic trends between the dialysis sessions and put extra emphasis on the extended time without dialysis that occur after the weekend, on a Monday or Tuesday. The study population as a whole had cardiac pressure values in the normal to upper ranges of normal values (Table 2). The recurring volume overloads seen in patients on hemodialysis treatment are in the same magnitude that might cause symptoms and even hospitalization in patients with heart failure (66). In heart failure patients, increased cardiac pressures were seen over a week before the hospitalizations, though about half of the pressure increase tended to occur during the last 24-hours before the event (66).

It could be hypothesized that the recurrent alternations in filling pressures, related to fluid status in patients on dialysis treatment, might incur activation of neurohormones and the sympathetic nervous systems resulting in myocardial damage. This might be the start of a viscous cycle where a worsening of the ability of the cardiovascular system to compensate for changes in volume load leads to acceleration in the development of left ventricular dysfunction (103,104). Though, this might not be preventable in the long term, improved treatment strategies may prolong the time to symptomatic ventricular dysfunction in patients on hemodialysis treatment. The results in Study VI suggests that three dialysis treatments a week might not be optimal for these patients and that more frequent dialysis sessions may decrease the burden of pulmonary congestion and possibly the development of alterations in cardiac function.

In dialysis patients venous access is essential and there might be hesitations to implanting a purely monitoring device. Retrospective studies from the USRD registry of patients on dialysis treatment receiving an ICD for secondary prophylaxis of malignant arrhythmia showed an improved survival (105). Although the effectiveness of primary prophylactic ICDs has not been addressed in the dialysis population it is conceivable that this treatment may be helpful to improve survival since sudden cardiac death is the single largest cause of mortality in end stage renal failure. Therefore, the combination of an ICD with hemodynamic monitoring capabilities would probably be more accepted by clinicians for use in this patient population.

Summary

Hemodynamic data from the IHM is valuable when data is 1) acquired reliably, 2) readily interpreted and 3) integrated effectively into patient care.

The IHM systems reported here were either investigational devices or first generation systems and previous work (64,65), including these systems and Study I in this thesis, have shown that hemodynamic data can be acquired accurately by biosensors both acutely and over long term. To support interpretation of continuous hemodynamic data, developments of effective methods for information management are underway and will provide improvements in the effectiveness of future systems.

At present, the incorporation of IHM data into routine patient care requires the user to obtain necessary knowledge and allocate the time needed for data review. An appealing future application would be if an integration of ambulatory hemodynamic information into the diagnostic assessment of patients was possible. The IHM data could be pooled into a database with other clinical information from the same patient. Advanced algorithms would then perform a cross-analysis and provide accurate, reliable status reports and treatment suggestions. While this is not available yet, continuous hemodynamic monitoring, as evidenced in this thesis, has great potential for guiding therapy and observation of disease progress in patients with cardiovascular diseases associated with compromised hemodynamics.

Lessons learned from my research. Despite all advances in technology and the benefit they can give in the care of a patient, technology will not be able to replace the human factor. The patients will always need that we take the time to listen to them. Technology is wonderful, it is the future and we will be there with it.

Conclusions

- I Accuracy and long term stability of an implanted venous oxygen sensor was demonstrated
- II Night-time minimum accurately reflected hemodynamic measurements during controlled, supine rest
- III Access to patient hemodynamic data trans-telephonically and via the internet was feasible and usable, independent of patient age and disease severity
- IV Hemodynamic response during submaximal exercise tests in heart failure patients was similar to that during maximal exercise
- V Continuous right ventricular and pulmonary artery pressures provided information on treatment response to inhaled iloprost in patients with pulmonary hypertension
- VI Progressive right ventricular and pulmonary artery pressure increments, related to volume load, was seen between dialysis sessions

Tacknowledgements

Professor Cecilia Linde – my principal supervisor and very good friend. A brilliant mind and meticulous in details, what more can you ask from a supervisor. Add on easy to laugh with, the love of good food and wine and it makes a wonderful base for friendship. It was possible to combine the two, thank you for being just the person you are!

Distinguished Scientist Tom Bennett – my co-supervisor and my current boss who is an excellent teacher and have taught me more about hemodynamics and measuring techniques than anyone else. Also thanks for helping me to adapt to a new culture when I moved to Minneapolis, and it must have worked, the description of being blunt has disappeared from my yearly reviews.

Associate professor Frieder Braunschweig – my co-supervisor and IHM discussion partner. We have shared many interesting cases and argued about confusing hemodynamic trends, learning more every time. The time difference between Stockholm and Minneapolis was never an issue, let's keep it that way.

Professor Lars Rydén – my mentor throughout most of my work carrier. You gave me options to take new paths and always believed that I could do it – even when I did not think I had the capacity or go. Thanks Lars, I would not be where I am today without you!

David Ersgård – the tall "skåning" who joined the Chronicle team a couple of years ago. It has been a pleasure to learn to know you. Thanks both for all your help in the IHM studies and for doing the layout of this thesis – and not screaming at me when I made another change and another and another and then yet one more... Also, there is something about "skånska" that has a relaxing effect on me, I think you are the only person who can call me at 7 in the morning and not make me feel stressed.

Eva Wallgren – and your kids... **Josef** brought me to Stockholm and **Sofia** got me into the IHM project! You are the family who made me take some big turns in my life – and I do not regret any one of them. Thanks for being such a good friend and wonderful listener. I am forever grateful for Asterix and Obelix who made us find common ground!

Gröna baracken – endless support and friendship concludes the folks in the Green Barrack! You are a great group and I miss you all so much! You always make me feel welcome back and that I am still one in the crowd. Keep on laughing – it makes the world go around. **Anita Fredenson** – we go far back, sharing a small room with three persons, computers and printers. I thought it was warm and opened the window and you would freeze. The thought of that office will still crack me up on a rainy day. **Kerstin Höglund** – always a smile and laughter and the only one who understood the horror of having a date set for my dissertation, your terrified looking "ooohhhhh - that is very soon" was a relief in all the congratulations. Thanks for understanding me without words!

Berith Haavik och **Helena Kagger** - thanks for helping me with all the obstacles and bureaucratic paperwork a PhD student have to go through to get ready. And thanks for always making me feel welcome in Stockholm and into your offices.

Thanks to all the **co-authors** for fruitful cooperation and valuable discussions. Å**ke Ohlsson** – was there for the pioneering work of implantable hemodynamic monitoring that laid the ground for this thesis. It was a lot of hard work but we did it. **Phil Adamson** – thank you for many fun and creative discussions about the IHM and its use in research and clinical care. I think there are some new restaurants in Minneapolis with organic food, foreign wines and no cell phones – ready for another try? **Fredrich Fruhwald** – introduced me to the combination of pulmonary hypertension and the IHM. It has always been a pleasure working with you and your creativity, four papers from a five patient study, it will always be a goal to reach.

Mor & Far – thanks for always supporting me in everything I have done. I don't think I ever heard a no to any of my ideas. Though, I did get around it a few times by not telling you what I was up to until afterwards. I wish mum could have been here today, she would have enjoyed sharing this day with us.

Siblings – **Bertil, Jörgen and Kerstin,** you paved my way and prepared me for life. Being the youngest has its advantages, after you guys had done it all, nothing I did could be a surprise to a parent! In addition I think you trained me in stubbornness and creativity, all useful tasks in research and it probably brought me where I am today. Thanks for being there for me both as siblings and as friends.

Kerstin Bergmark – you are almost like a sibling to me, you have always been there. Your friendship, your advice about life and the endless support when I doubt myself has been invaluable. I look forward to share many new adventures with you in the future.

Eva & Anton Fredljung – my generous hosts whenever I appear in Stockholm. Without your friendship and hospitality I could not have made it – neither living abroad nor write this thesis. Words can not express how happy and proud I am to call you my friends and what your support has meant to me. Oh, Champagne might have played a role too...

Bosse Törnberg – my friend since forever. Thanks for always being there when I need you and for traveling the world around to visit me!! I think you are one of the few persons who have seen all of the 10 apartments I have had since I moved to Skara.

Fadderbarn Jennie Strid och Emil Jansson – you are the stars on my horizon, keep on shining!!

Ebba Tiden – who patiently have answered the phone when I tried to reach my supervisor and many times made me laugh and forget about work for a while.

Lena Borgström – who took the photo on the cover of this book. The combination of hard and soft and the wonders of nature you have caught in that picture are wonderful. Thanks for sharing your gift with me.

My **extended family** and **friends** all over the world, you make the globe a better place to be, every day I wake up grateful that you are a part of my life.

And above all, the patients who willingly participated in the studies.

References

- 1. Bourassa MG. The history of cardiac catheterization. Can J Cardiol 2005; 21:1011-14
- McMullen ET. Anatomy of a physiological discovery: William Harvey and the circulation of the blood. J.R.Soc.Med 1995; 88:491-98
- 3. Forssmann W. Die sondierung des rechten herzens. Klinische Wochenschrift 1929; 8:2085-87
- Berry D. History of Cardiology: Werner Forssmann, MD. Circulation 2006;113:f27-28
- Archer SL. The making of a physician-scientist the process has a pattern: lessons from the lives of Nobel laureates in medicine and physiology. Eur Heart J 2007; 28:510-14
- Higgs Z, Macafee D, Braithwaite B, Maxwell-Armstrong C. The Seldinger technique: 50 years on. Lancet 2005; 366:1407-09
- Palmieri TL. The inventors of the Swan-Ganz catheter: H. J. C. Swan and William Ganz. Curr Surg 2003; 60:351-52
- Pinsky MR, Vincent JL. Let us use the pulmonary artery catheter correctly and only when we need it. Crit Care Med 2005; 33:1119-22
- 9. Swedberg K, Cleland J, Dargie H, Drexler H, Follath F, Komajda M, Tavazzi L, Smiseth OA, Gavazzi A, Haverich A, Hoes A, Jaarsma T, Korewicki J, Levy S, Linde C, Lopez-Sendon JL, Nieminen MS, Pierard L, Remme WJ; Task Froce for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure of the European Society of Cardiology. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of chronic heart failure: executive summary (update 2005): The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J 2005; 26:1115-40
- 10. Hunt SA; American College of Cardiology; American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Update the 2001 Guidelines for the Evaluation and Management of Heart Failure). ACC/AHA 2005 guideline update for the diagnosis and management of chronic heart failure in the adult: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines for the Evaluation and Management of Heart Failure). J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 46:e1-82
- Stevenson LW, Dracup KA, Tillisch JH. Effect of medical therapy for severe congestive heart failure in patients referred for urgent cardiac transplantation. Am J Cardiol 1989; 63: 461-64

- Stevenson LW, Couper G, Natterson B, et al. Target heart failure populations for newer therapies. Circulation 1995; 92 [Suppl II]:174-81
- Steimle AE, Stevenson LW, Chelimsky-Fallick C, Fonarow GC, Hamilton MA, Moriguchi JD, Kartashov A, Tillisch JH. Sustained hemodynamic efficacy of therapy tailored to reduce filling pressures in survivors with advanced heart failure. Circulation 1997; 96:1165-72
- Fonarow GC, Stevenson LW, Walden JA, Livingston NA, Steimle AE, Hamilton MA, Moriguchi J, Tillisch JH, Woo MA. Impact of a comprehensive heart failure management program on hospital readmission and functional status of patients with advanced heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997; 30:725-32
- Connors AF Jr, Speroff T, Dawson NV, Thomas C, Harrell FE Jr, Wagner D, Desbiens N, Goldman L, Wu AW, Califf RM, Fulkerson WJ Jr, Vidaillet H, Broste S, Bellamy P, Lynn J, Knaus WA. The effectiveness of right heart catheterization in the initial care of critically ill patients. JAMA 1996; 276:889-97
- Franciosa JA, Dunkman WB, Leddy CL. Hemodynamic effects of vasodilators and longterm response in heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 1984; 3:1521-30
- Packer M. Vasodilator and inotropic drugs for the treatment of chronic heart failure: distinguishing hype from hope. J Am Coll Cardiol 1988; 12:1299-1317
- Aaronson KD, Schwartz JS, Chen TM, Wong KL, Goin JE, Mancini DM. Development and prospective validation of a clinical index to predict survival in ambulatory patients referred for cardiac transplant evaluation. Circulation 1997; 95:2660-67
- Binanay C, Califf RM, Hasselblad V, O'Connor CM, Shah MR, Sopko G, Stevenson LW, Francis GS, Leier CV, Miller LW; ESCAPE Investigators and ESCAPE Study Coordinators. Evaluation study of congestive heart failure and pulmonary artery catheterization effectiveness: the ESCAPE trial. JAMA 2005; 294:1625-33
- Stevenson LW. Are hemodynamic goals viable in tailoring heart failure therapy? Hemodynamic goals are relevant. Circulation 2006; 113:1020-33
- Darovic GO. Hemodynamic monitoring: Invasive and noninvasive clinical application. Book. Second edition. Saunders Company, Philadelphia 1995
- 22. PA Pool-Wilson. Heart Failure. Med Int 1985; 2:866-71

- Braunwald E. Heart disease: a textbook of cardiovascular medicine. Book. 3rd ed. W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia; 1998
- Mosterd A, Hoes AW, de Bruyne MC et al. Prevalence in heart failure and left ventricular dysfunction in the general population. Eur Heart J 1999; 20:447-55
- Krumholz HM, Parent EM, Tu N, Vaccarino V, Wang Y, Radford MJ, Hennen J. Readmission after hospitalization for congestive heart failure among Medicare beneficiaries. Arch Intern Med 1997; 157:99-104
- Cowie MR, Fox KF, Wood DA, Metcalfe C, Thompson SG, Coats AJ, Poole-Wilson PA, Sutton GC. Hospitalization of patients with heart failure: a population-based study. Eur Heart J 2002; 23:877-85
- Mejhert M, Persson H, Edner M, Kahan T. Epidemiology of heart failure in Sweden-a national survey. Eur J Heart Fail 2001; 3:97-103
- Ho KK, Anderson KM, Kannel WB, Grossman W, Levy D. Survival after the onset of congestive heart failure in Framingham Heart Study subjects. Circulation 1993; 88:107-15
- Cleland JG, Gemmell I, Khand A, Boddy A. Is the prognosis of heart failure improving? Eur J Heart Fail 1999; 1:229-41
- Diagnosis and management of patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension; ACCP Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines. Chest 2004; 126(supplement):S1-92
- Datamonitor Stakeholder Perspectives: Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension - A small market gets big attention <u>http://bizwiz.biomarketgroup.</u> com/bw/Archives/Files/TOC_DMHC2166.pdf
- 32. D'Alonzo GE, Barst RJ, Ayres SM, Bergofsky EH, Brundage BH, Detre KM, Fishman AP, Goldring RM, Groves BM, Kernis JT, et al. Survival in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. Results from a national prospective registry. Ann Intern Med 1991; 115:343-49
- McLaughlin VV, Sitbon O, Badesch DB, Barst RJ, Black C, Galie N, Rainisio M, Simonneau G, Rubin LJ. Survival with first-line bosentan in patients with primary pulmonary hypertension. Eur Respir J 2005; 25:244-49
- 34. Frantz R, Kjellstrom B, Benza R, McGoon M, Bourge R, Barst R, Bennett T. Ambulatory hemodynamic response to treatment in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. Abstract. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2007;175 Abstracts Issue

- NKF-K/DOQI Clinical Practice Guidelines for Hemodialysis Adequacy: Update 2000. Am J Kidney Dis 2001; 37:S7-64
- Elseviers M, De Vos JY, Harrington M, Zampieron A, Ormandy P, Kafkia T; EDTNA/ERCA Research Board. Comparison of renal care practice in Europe: centre and patient characteristics. EDTNA ERCA J 2006; 32:8-13
- Schön S, Ekberg H, Wikström B, Oden A, Ahlmen J. Renal replacement therapy in Sweden. Scan J Urol Nephrol 2004; 38:332-39
- United States Renal Data System, Minneapolis. Annual report 2004. Available from <u>www.usrds.org</u>
- Dorhout Mees EJ, Cardiovascular aspects of dialysis treatment, the importance of volume control. Book Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht 2000
- Medin C, Elinder CG, Hylander B, Blom B, Wilczek H. Survival of patients who have been on a waiting list for renal transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2000;15:701-4
- Lameire N, Management of the hemodialysis patient: a European perspective. Blood Purif 2002; 20:93-102
- Iseki K, Shinzato T, Nagura Y, Akiba T. Factors influencing long-term survival in patients on chronic dialysis. Clin Exp Nephrol 2004; 8:89-97
- Leggat JE Jr, Orzol SM, Hulbert-Shearon TE, Golper TA, Jones CA, Held PJ, Port FK. Noncompliance in hemodialysis: predictors and survival analysis. Am J Kidney Dis 1998;32:139-45
- Bleyer AJ, Hylander B, Sudo H, Nomoto Y, de la Torre E, Chen RA, Burkart JM. An international study of patient compliance with hemodialysis. JAMA 1999; 281:1211-13
- 45. Fonarow GC; ADHERE Scientific Advisory Committee. The Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry (ADHERE): opportunities to improve care of patients hospitalized with acute decompensated heart failure. Rev Cardiovasc Med 2003; 4 Suppl 7:S21-30
- 46. Cleland JG, Swedberg K, Follath F, Komajda M, Cohen-Solal A, Aguilar JC, Dietz R, Gavazzi A, Hobbs R, Korewicki J, Madeira HC, Moiseyev VS, Preda I, van Gilst WH, Widimsky J, Freemantle N, Eastaugh J, Mason J; Study Group on Diagnosis of the Working Group on Heart Failure of the European Society of Cardiology. The EuroHeart Failure survey programme - a survey on the quality of care among patients with heart failure in Europe. Part 1: patient characteristics and diagnosis. Eur Heart J 2003; 24:442-63
- 47. Shah M, Flavell C, Weintraub J, Young M, Hasselblad V, Fang J, Nohria A, Lewis E, Givertz M,

Mudge G, Stevenson LW. Intensity and focus on heart failure disease management after hospital discharge. Am Heart J 2005; 149:715-21

- Drazner MH, Rame JE, Stevenson LW, Dries DL. Prognostic importance of elevated jugular venous pressure and a third heart sound in patients with heart failure. N Engl J Med 2001; 345:574-81
- Stevenson LW, Perloff JK. The limited reliability of physical signs for estimating hemodynamics in chronic heart failure. JAMA 1989; 261:884-88
- Lewin J, Ledwidge M, O'Loughlin C, McNally C, McDonald K. Clinical deterioration in established heart failure: What is the value of BNP and weight gain in aiding diagnosis? Eur J Heart Fail 2005; 7:953-57
- 51. Goldberg LR, Piette JD, Walsh MN, Frank TA, Jaski BE, Smith AL, Rodriguez R, Mancini DM, Hopton LA, Orav EJ, Loh E; WHARF Investigators. Randomized trial of a daily electronic home monitoring system in patients with advanced heart failure: the Weight Monitoring in Heart Failure (WHARF) trial. Am Heart J 2003; 146:705-12
- van der Wal MH, Jaarsma T, van Veldhuisen DJ. Non-compliance in patients with heart failure; how can we manage it? Eur J Heart Fail 2005; 7:5-17
- Ikram H, Richards AM, Hamilton EJ, Nicholls MG. Continuous recording of pulmonary artery pressure in unrestricted subjects. Br Heart J 1984; 51:421-26
- Gibbs JS, Cunningham D, Shapiro LM, Park A, Poole-Wilson PA, Fox KM. Diurnal variation of pulmonary artery pressure in chronic heart failure. Br Heart J 1989; 62:30-35
- Gibbs JS, Keegan J, Wright C, Fox KM, Poole-Wilson PA. Pulmonary artery pressure changes during exercise and daily activities in chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 1990; 15:52-61
- 56. Levy RD, Cunningham D, Shapiro LM, Wright C, Mockus L, Fox KM. Continuous ambulatory pulmonary artery pressure monitoring. A new method using a transducer tipped catheter and a simple recording system. Br Heart J 1986; 55:336-43
- Nathan AW, Perry SG, Cochrane T, Banim SO, Spurrell RA, Camm AJ. Ambulatory monitoring of pulmonary artery pressure. A preliminary clinical evaluation. Br Heart J 1983; 49:33-37
- Reynolds DW, Bartelt N, Taepke R, Bennett TD. Measurement of pulmonary artery diastolic pressure from the right ventricle. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995; 25:1176-82
- 59. Ohlsson A, Bennett T, Nordlander R, Ryden J,

Astrom H, Ryden L. Monitoring of pulmonary arterial diastolic pressure through a right ventricular pressure transducer. J Card Fail 1995; 1:161-68

- 60. Chuang P, Wilson RF, Homans DC, Stone K, Bergman T, Bennett, TD, Kubo S. Measurement of pulmonary artery diastolic pressure from a right ventricular pressure transducer in patients with heart failure. J Card Fail 1996; 2:41-46
- 61. Ohlsson A, Beck R, Bennett T, Nordlander R, Ryden J, Astrom H, Ryden L. Monitoring of mixed venous oxygen saturation and pressure from biosensors in the right ventricle: A 24 hour study in patients with heart failure. Eur Heart J 1995; 16:1215-22
- Steinhaus DM, Lemery R, Bresnehan Jr. DR, Handlin L, Bennett T, Moore A, Cardinal D, Foley L, Levine R. Initial experience with an implantable hemodynamic monitor. Circulation 1996; 93:745-52
- Ohlsson A, Bennett T, Ottenhoff F, Bitkover C, Kjellstrom B, Nordlander R, Astrom H, Ryden L. Continuous ambulatory monitoring with an implantable system. The feasibility of a new technique. Eur Heart J 1998;19:174-84
- 64. Ohlsson A, Kubo S, Steinhaus D, Connelly D, Adler S, Bitkover C, Nordlander R, Ryden L, Bennett T. Continuous ambulatory monitoring of absolute right ventricular pressure and mixed venous oxygen saturation in patients with heart failure using an implantable hemodynamic monitor: Results of a one year multicenter feasibility study. Eur Heart J 2001; 22:942-54
- 65. Magalski A, Adamson P, Gadler F, Böhm M, Steinhaus D, Reynolds D, Vlach K, Linde C, Cremers B, Sparks B, Bennett T. Continuous ambulatory right heart pressure measurements with an implantable hemodynamic monitor: a multicenter, 12-month follow-up study of patients with chronic heart failure. J Card Fail 2002; 8:63-70
- 66. Adamson PB, Reynolds D, Luby A, Magalski A, Steinhaus D, Linde C, Braunschweig F, Rydén L, Böhm M, Stäblein A, Takle T, Bennett T. Ongoing right ventricular hemodynamics in heart failure: clinical value of measurements derived from an implantable monitoring system. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 41:565-71
- Braunschweig F, Linde C, Eriksson MJ, Hofman-Bang C, Rydén L. Continuous hemodynamic monitoring during withdrawal of diuretics in patients with congestive heart failure. Eur Heart J 2002; 23:59-69
- Wonisch M, Fruhwald F, Maier R, Watzinger N, Hödl R, Kraxner W, Perthold W, Klein W. Continuous hemodynamic monitoring during incremental exercise in patients with pulmonary

hypertension treated with inhalative prostanoids. Int J Cardiol 2005; 101:415-20

- 69. Braunschweig F, Fahrleitner A, Mangiavacchi M, Ghio S, Fotuhi P, Hoppe UC, Linde C. Correlation between serial measurements of N-terminal pro brain natriuretic peptide and ambulatory cardiac filling pressures in outpatients with chronic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 2006; 8:797-803
- Cremers B, Kjellström B, Südkamp M, Böhm M. Hemodynamic monitoring during sexual intercourse and physical exercise in a patient with chronic heart failure and pulmonary hypertension. Am J Med 2002; 112:428-30
- Braunschweig F, Kjellström B, Gadler F, Linde C. Optimization of cardiac resynchronization therapy by continuous hemodynamic monitoring; A case report. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2004; 15:94-96
- Cremers B, Kjellström B, Südkamp M, Böhm M. Perioperative hemodynamic measurements with an implantable monitoring system (Chronicle) in a patient with severe heart failure undergoing noncardiac surgery. Z Kardiol 2004; 93:908-12
- Fruhwald F, Kjellström B, Perthold W, Wonisch M, Maier R, Grandjean P, Klein W. Hemodynamic observations in two pulmonary hypertensive patients changing treatment from inhaled iloprost to oral endothelin-antagonist bosentan. J Heart Lung Transplant 2005; 24:631-34
- Beinborn D, Kjellstrom B, Roettger A, Bennett T, Anderson M, McGoon M. Implantable hemodynamic monitoring for managing patients with pulmonary artery hypertension: An early case report. EP Lab Digest 2004; 4:1-10
- 75. Cleland JG, Coletta AP, Freemantle N, Velavan P, Tin L, Clark AL. Clinical trials update from the American College of Cardiology meeting: CARE-HF and the remission of heart failure, Women's Health Study, TNT, COMPASS-HF, VERITAS, CANPAP, PEECH and PREMIER. Eur J Heart Fail 2005; 7:931-36
- Adamson PB, Bourge RC, Abraham WT, Cho YK, Taepke R, Bennett T. Pressure changes associated with heart failure events using an automated detector. Abstract. J Card Fail 2006; 12: (Supplement):S128
- Karamanoglu M, Bennett TD. A right ventricular pressure waveform based pulse contour cardiac output algorithm in canines. Cardiovasc Eng 2006; 6:83-92
- 78. Karamanoglu M, McGoon M, Frantz RP, Benza RL, Bourge RC, Barst RJ, Kjellstrom B, Bennett TD. Right ventricular pressure waveform and wave reflection analysis in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. CHEST In press

- Sharma AD, Bennett TD, Erickson M, Klein GJ, Yee R, Guiraudon G. Right ventricular pressure during ventricular arrhythmias in humans: potential implications for implantable antitachycardia devices. J Am Coll Cardiol 1990; 15:648-55
- Yu CM, Wang L, Chau E, Chan RH, Kong SL, Tang MO, Christensen J, Stadler RW, Lau CP. Intrathoracic impedance monitoring in patients with heart failure: correlation with fluid status hospitalization. Circulation 2005; 112:841-48
- Adamson PB for the REDUCE-hf investigators. Reducing decompensation events utilizing intracardiac pressures in patients with chronic HF (REDUCE-hf). Presented at the Heart Failure Society of America annual meeting 2006
- Pickering TG, Schwartz JE, James GD. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring for evaluating the relationship between lifestyle, hypertension and cardiovascular risk. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 1995; 22:226-31
- Higenbottam TW, Butt AY, Dinh-Xaun AT, Takao M, Cremona G, Akamine S. Treatment of pulmonary hypertension with the continuous infusion of a prostacyclin analogue, iloprost. Heart 1998; 79:175-79
- Olschewski, H, Walmrath D, Schermuly R, Ghorani A, Grimminger F, Seeger W. Aerosolized prostacyclin and iloprost in severe pulmonary hypertension. Ann Intern Med 1996; 124:820-24
- Lau CP, Tai YT, Lee IS, Erickson M, Yerich C. Utility of an implantable right ventricular oxygen saturation-sensing pacemaker for ambulatory cardiopulmonary monitoring. Chest 1995; 107:1089-94
- Faerestrand S, Ohm OJ, Stangeland L, Heynen H, Moore A. Long-term clinical performance of a central venous oxygen saturation sensor for rate adaptive cardiac pacing. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1994;17:1355-72
- Windecker S, Bubien RS, Halperin L, Moore A, Kay GN. Two-year experience with ratemodulated pacing controlled by mixed venous oxygen saturation. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol 1998; 21:1396-404
- Phil Adamson MD, Heart Failure Institute at the Oklahoma Heart Hospital, Oklahoma city, OK. Personal communication
- Adamson PB, Kjellstrom B, Magalski A, Braunschweig F, Bohm M, Bennett T. Circadian patterns of cardiac filling pressures in heart failure patients. Abstract. J Card Fail 2003; 9 (Supplement): S20

- 90. Aaron MF, Cho YK, Vance JA, Bennett T, Yorke BH, Davidson B, Tumen J, Dale S. Sleep disordered breathing detection in congestive heart failure subjects with Chronicle implantable hemodynamic monitors. Abstract. J Card Fail 2005; 11 (Supplement):S191-192
- Louis AA, Turner T, Gretton M, Baksh A, Cleland JG. A systematic review of telemonitoring for the management of heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 2003; 5:583-90
- Chaudhry SI, Phillips CO, Stewart SS, Riegel B, Mattera JA, Jerant AF, Krumholz HM. Telemonitoring for patients with chronic heart failure: a systematic review. J Card Fail 2007; 13:56-62
- Meystre S. The current state of telemonitoring: a comment on the literature. Telemed J E Health 2005; 11:63-69
- 94. Medtronic Receives FDA Approval for New Cardiac Systems with Distance Wireless Telemetry; Concerto CRT-D and Virtuoso ICD Transmit Patient Data Remotely and Automatically to Physicians, Enabling Better Care. Business Wire via NewsEdge Corporation. May 18, 2006 http:// www.bioportfolio.com/may_06/18_05_2006/ Medtronic Receives FDA.html
- Braunschweig F, Linde C. Continuous hemodynamic monitoring in heart failure. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2002; (supplement) 13:68-72
- Myers J, Gullestad L, Vagelos R, Do D, Bellin D, Ross H, Fowler MB. Clinical, hemodynamic, and cardiopulmonary exercise test determinants of survival in patients referred for evaluation of heart failure. Ann Intern Med 1998; 129:286-93
- Gitt AK, Wasserman K, Kilkowski C, Kleemann T, Kilkowski A, Bangert M, Schneider S, Schwarz A, Senges J. Exercise anaerobic threshold and ventilatory efficiency identify heart failure patients for high risk of early death. Circulation 2002; 106:3079-84

- O'Neill JO, Young JB, Pothier CE, Lauer MS. Peak oxygen consumption as a predictor of death in patients with heart failure receiving beta-blockers. Circulation 2005; 111:2313-18
- O'Keeffe ST, Lye M, Donnellan C, Carmichael DN. Reproducibility and responsiveness of quality of life assessment and six minute walk test in elderly heart failure patients. Heart 1998; 80:377-82
- 100. Demers C, McKelvie RS, Negassa A, Yusuf S. Reliability, validity, and responsiveness of the sixminute walk test in patients with heart failure. Am Heart J 2001; 142:698-703
- 101. Braunschweig F, Linde C, Adamson P, Magalski A, Erdmann E, Kjellstrom B, Bennett T. Hemodynamic responses during ambulatory activity compared with six minute walking recorded with an implantable monitor in patients with congestive heart failure. Manuscript in preparation
- 102. Benza R, Kjellstrom B, Frantz R, Bourge R, McGoon M, Barst R, Bennett T. Hemodynamic responses during exercise in pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH). American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2007; 175 (April) Abstracts Issue
- Harnett JD, Foley RN, Kent GM, Barre PE, Murray D, Parfrey PS. Congestive heart failure in dialysis patients: prevalence, incidence, prognosis and risk factors. Kidney Int 1995; 47:884-90
- 104. Gunal A, Kiriciman E, Guler M, Yavuzkir M, Celiker H. Should the preservation of residual renal function cost volume overload and its consequence left ventricular hypertrophy in new hemodialysis patients? Renal Failure 2004; 26:405-9
- 105. Herzog CA, Li S, Weinhandl ED, Strief JW, Collins AJ, Gilbertson DT. Survival of dialysis patients after cardiac arrest and the impact of implantable cardioverter defibrillators. Kidney Int 2005; 68:818-25